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INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This is an original action in mandamus within this Court’s constitutional 

authority and brought properly as an expedited election matter pursuant to 

Sup.Ct.Prac.R. 12.08. 

2. This action involves a Bellefontaine municipal initiative petition to regulate 

how people dress in public spearheaded by extremist community outsiders to 

bankrupt the City of Bellefontaine in endless First Amendment litigation in which 

the city would stand little chance of success. 

3. This Court has original jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Article IV, 

Section 2 of the Ohio Constitution and R.C. 2731.02. 

4. Relators are entitled to the requested writ of mandamus because they have 

no recourse in the ordinary course of law, the November 7, 2023 election being less 

than sixty days away.  

5. This Complaint is supported by the affidavits of the Relators, attached hereto 

as “Exhibits 3-7.” 

 
ALLEGATIONS IN SUPPORT OF CLAIMS 

 
6. These allegations are presented in chronological order in the interests of 

clarity. 

7. On the evening of December 2, 2022, a Christmas parade was held along 

Main Street in the city of Bellefontaine.  The parade was sponsored by a non-profit 

foundation of Bellefontaine small business owners.   
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8. The City of Bellefontaine took no state actions regarding the parade other 

than issuing the permit and maintaining the peace. 

9. The Christmas parade was attended by thousands of Bellefontaine residents 

and tourists who came to Bellefontaine’s Main Street to watch dozens of holiday-

themed floats and walking krewes sponsored by community businesses and non-

profits.   

10. The Christmas parade resulted in increased revenue for local small 

businesses and positive press coverage. 

11. Among entries in the Christmas parade was that of Extending the Branch, a 

Bellefontaine-based Ohio non-profit corporation whose mission is “to educate the 

community and its individual members on issues of equality, bigotry, queer history, 

and queer culture.” The primary activities of Extending the Branch focus on youth 

suicide prevention via group support meetings and educational outreach. 

12. Extending the Branch’s entry in the Christmas parade consisted of a walking 

krewe of social workers, teachers, counselors, and community allies. A drag queen 

dressed as an elf rode behind them on a jet ski. 

13. On January 10, 2023, Danielle Stefaniszyn1 spoke during the public 

comments period of the Bellefontaine City Council meeting to convey that she and 

her husband2 moved to Bellefontaine a couple years ago seeking a community 

 
1 A member of the committee representing the municipal ordinance initiative 
petition sub judice. 
2 Skate Buchanan, also a member of the committee representing the instant 
municipal ordinance petition. 
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without “metropolitan values.” She further expressed her outrage about “a scantily 

clad drag queen” at the Christmas parade. 

14. This photograph is a true and accurate depiction of the alleged scantily clad 

drag queen at the Christmas parade3: 

 

 
15. At that same January 10, 2023 city council meeting, Devan Palmer4 spoke 

during the public comments period and urged city council to adopt a standard of 

conduct for public places “including but not limited to costumes, outfits, behavior, 

 
3 Photograph courtesy of Amanda Avink. 
4 A member of the committee representing the municipal ordinance initiative 
petition sub judice. 
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attitudes, language, music and dance moves.”  See “Exhibit 8,” Bellefontaine City 

Council Meeting Minutes. 

16. No scantily clad drag queen ever appeared at the Christmas parade. The 

December weather in Ohio would have rendered it difficult for anyone to be scantily 

clad at the parade, even if they wanted to5. 

17. Subsequent to the January 10, 2023 city council meeting, the Bellefontaine 

City Council did not adopt any measure regulating costumes, outfits, behavior, 

attitudes, language, music or dance moves in public places. 

18. On April 14, 2023, Danielle Stefaniszyn filed with the Bellefontaine City 

Auditor’s office an initiative petition on the Secretary of State’s prescribed form for 

Chapter 731 municipal initiative petitions.  See “Exbibit 1” at part A, Pre-

Circulation Petition; accord with “Exhibit 9.” 

19. That petition states, in pertinent part: 

“To the City Auditor of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio: 
 
We, the undersigned, electors of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio 
respectfully propose to the electors of such city, village or township 
for their approval or rejection at the general election to be held on the 
7th day of November, 2023 the following Ordinance: 
 
The following is a full and correct copy of the title and text of the 
proposed Ordinance: 
 

The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows 
as Adult Cabaret Performance. Adult oriented 
exhibitions featuring male or female impersonators 
who provide displays and entertainment appealing 

 
5 There is no evidence that any drag queen had any intention of being scantily clad 
.at the event. 
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to sexual interests, shall not permit the attendance 
of a minor. 
 
Adult Cabaret Performances shall not be held on 
public property, or any location viewable by a 
minor.” 

 
20. The full title and text of the Pre-Circulation Petition does not contain any 

language amending any existing ordinance. 

21. The full title and text of the Pre-Circulation Petition does not contain any 

language making the ordinance a zoning ordinance. 

22. The full title and text of the Pre-Circulation Petition does not contain any 

language making the ordinance part of Bellefontaine’s zoning scheme regulating 

“Adult Entertainment.” 

23. On April 14, 2023, six committee members representing the petition began 

circulating a petition, a photograph of which was taken by Relator Maddox on April 

14, 2023. See Exhibit 1 at part B, Circulated Petition. 

24. The Petition states, in pertinent part: 

“To the [CITY AUDITOR, VILLAGE CLERK OR TOWNSHIP FISCAL 
OFFICER] of the [CITY, VILLAGE OR TOWNSHIP] of [NAME OF 
CITY, VILLAGE OR TOWNSHIP], Ohio: 
 
We, the undersigned, electors of the [CITY, VILLAGE OR 
TOWNSHIP] of [NAME OF CITY, VILLAGE OR TOWNSHIP], Ohio 
respectfully propose to the electors of such city, village or township 
for their approval or rejection at the general election to be held on the 
_______ day of November, _________ the following Ordinance: 
 
The following is a full and correct copy of the title and text of the 
proposed Ordinance: 
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The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows 
as Adult Cabaret Performance. Adult oriented 
exhibitions featuring male or female impersonators 
who provide displays and entertainment appealing 
to sexual interests, shall not permit the attendance 
of a minor. 
 
Adult Cabaret Performances shall not be held on 
public property, or any location viewable by a 
minor.” 

 
25. The Circulated Petition (Ex. 1.B) did not identify the municipality for which 

the ordinance was proposed or the year during which the measure sought to be 

placed on the ballot. See also “Exhibit 11,” Hearing Transcript (HT) at 55:14 – 58:3; 

60:14 – 61:19. 

26. At the May 2, 2023 primary election, a Republican challenger defeated the 

long-time Republican mayor for the party’s nomination. 

27. On May 9, 2023 at the Logan County Republican monthly luncheon, in the 

presence of most of Logan County’s judges, party chair and Logan County Board of 

Elections member Ranae Lentz referred to undersigned counsel as a “local attorney 

and cross dresser” while introducing the Republican mayoral nominee. 

28. Undersigned counsel is the 2023 Democratic nominee for mayor of 

Bellefontaine.   

29. Undersigned counsel is not a “cross dresser.” 

30. The allegations of Board member Ms. Lentz, made in the presence of the 

judges in front of whom undersigned counsel practices, are entirely false and 

baseless. 
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31. On May 10, 2023, undersigned counsel mailed Ms. Lentz a letter explaining 

how her “foul and reckless mouth has placed many good people in an awkward 

position” and ultimately encouraging her to “[d]o better.” Along the left side of the 

letter was the acrostic “BIGOTRY WILL NOT WIN BE NICE”. See “Exhibit 10,” 

Letter to Ranae Lentz. 

32. Board member Ranae Lentz is undersigned counsel’s maternal cousin. 

33. On or about July 22 – 23 at Logan County, Ohio, Skate Buchanan and 

Danielle Stefaniszyn removed the signature pages from 27 part petitions and 

affixed to them 27 petitions with the following text drafted by them: 

“To the City Auditor of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio: 
 
We, the undersigned, electors of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio 
respectfully propose to the electors of such city, village or 
township for their approval or rejection at the general election to 
be held on the 7th day of November, 2023 the following Ordinance: 
 
The following is a full and correct copy of the title and text of the 
proposed Ordinance: 
 

Proposal to amend City of Bellefontaine Codified 
Ordinance Chapter 1177 Adult Entertainment – 1177.02 

Definition 
 

by adding the following text 
 

The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows as Adult Cabaret 
Performance.  Adult oriented exhibitions featuring male or female 

impersonators who provide displays and entertainment appealing to sexual 
interest, shall not permit the attendance of a minor.  Adult Cabaret 

Performances shall not be held on public property, or any location viewable 
by a minor.” 

 
HT, 58:23 – 60:4; 67:12-23; 80:25 – 81:12.  



8 
 

34. On July 24, 2023, Skate Buchanan filed with the Bellefontaine city auditor 

the 27 signature pages attached to the aforementioned petition which no voter 

signed. HT, 58:23 – 59:6; 63:9-15; Exhibit 1.C; accord with “Exhibit 26.  

35. On August 4, 2023, the City Auditor forwarded the 27 part-petitions to the 

Logan County Board of Elections. 

36. On August 25, 2023, one day after the petition swapping became known to 

undersigned counsel, Relators filed the instant electoral protest with the Logan 

County Board of Elections. See Exhibit 1.  

37. On September 6, 2023, Petitioners filed a Response to the electoral protest 

with the Logan County Board of Elections through their attorney. See “Exhibit 11,” 

Petitioners’ Response. 

38. On September 7, 2023, the Logan County Board of Elections held an electoral 

protest hearing. See “Exhibit 12,” Hearing Transcript.   

39. At that hearing, Petitioners Skate Buchanan and Danielle Stefaniszyn 

testified that no one signed a petition containing the ordinance language filed with 

the city auditor by Skate Buchanan on July 24, 2023. 

40. At that hearing, Petitioner Buchanan testified that the petitioners stopped 

circulating the petitions before the revised ordinance language sub judice was 

drafted. 

 
6 The attached “Exhibit 2” has apparently omitted signature lines 18-24 on each of 
the 27 part petitions due to a scanning error. Undersigned counsel intends to obtain 
the true and correct copies from the Logan County Board of Elections prior to filing 
the opening brief.  
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41. At that hearing, Board of Elections members Kathryn Clark (Ohio Bar. No. 

58482) and Rev. Robert Fulton a combined twenty questions of the seven witnesses. 

42. At that hearing, Board of Elections members Steven Fansler (Ohio Bar. No. 

644) and Ranae Lentz asked a combined zero questions of the seven witnesses. 

43. Following the hearing, the Board reconvened privately and deliberated. HT, 

94:15 – 110:10. 

44. The Board voted 2 – 2 with Board members Kathryn Clark and Robert Fulton 

voting to sustain the protest and not place the measure on the November 2023 

ballot, and Board members Steven Fansler and Ranae Lentz voting to overrule the 

protest and place the measure on the November 2023 ballot. See “Exhibits 13 & 

14,” Position Statements. 

45. On Tuesday, September 12, 2023, the Board submitted the matter to Ohio 

Secretary of State Frank LaRose for his tie-breaking vote. 

46. On September 19, 2023, Secretary of State Frank LaRose cast his tie vote in 

favor of overruling the protest and placing the measure on the ballot. See “Exhibit 

15,” Tie Vote Letter. 

47. Because the Secretary of State acted in clear disregard of existing law and 

Board member Lentz corrupted the proceedings, Relators (the five original electoral 

protestors) now bring this action in mandamus seeking to compel Respondents to 

sustain the electoral protest and stop placement of a proposed ordinance on the 

November 2023 ballot for which no voter signed a petition. 
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CORRUPTION AND BIAS 
(as to Respondent Logan Cty. Bd. of Elections by way of member Ranae 

Lentz) 
 
48. In a mandamus action challenging the decision of a county board of elections, 

the standard is whether the board engaged in fraud, corruption, or abuse of 

discretion, or acted in clear disregard of applicable legal provisions. See, e.g., State 

ex rel. Bd. of Edn. v. Lucas Cty. Bd. of Elections, 2023-Ohio-3286, ¶13. 

49. Logan County Board of Elections member Ranae Lentz had a duty to disclose 

to the Board of Elections, and the litigants, the fact that she is the maternal cousin 

of undersigned counsel or to recuse herself due to that fact. 

50. Ms. Lentz did not disclose to the Board of Elections or the litigants that she is 

the maternal cousin of undersigned counsel; nor did she recuse herself. 

51. Ms. Lentz had a duty to disclose to the Board of Elections and the litigants 

that she stood in front of at least sixty people at the Logan County Republican 

Party luncheon on May 9, 2023 and referred7 to undersigned counsel as a “cross 

dresser,” or recuse herself due to that fact.  

52. Ms. Lentz did not disclose to the Board of Elections or the litigants that she 

called undersigned counsel a “cross dresser” four months before the hearing in the 

presence of the judges in front of whom undersigned counsel practices; nor did she 

recuse herself. 

 
7 Falsely and without basis. 
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53. By failing to recuse herself or disclose her pattern of unwarranted bigotry 

against a family member involved in the litigation, Board member Lentz has 

corrupted the proceedings requiring sustaining of the protest. 

 
ABUSE OF DISCRETION & CLEAR DISREGARD OF APPLICABLE LAW 

(as to both Respondents) 
 
54. R.C. 731.28 allows municipal ordinances to be proposed by initiative petition. 

See State ex rel. Schmitt v. Bridgeport, 165 Ohio St.3d 300, 2021-Ohio-2664, 178 

N.E.3d 499, ¶4. 

55. Before an initiative petition may be circulated, its proponents must file a 

certified copy of the proposed ordinance with the city auditor. Id., citing R.C. 731.32. 

56. No alterations, corrections, or additions may be made to a petition after it is 

filed with the city auditor. R.C. 3501.38(I)(1). 

57. Each petition paper seeking an initiated municipal ordinance must contain a 

full and correct copy of the title and text of the proposed ordinance. R.C. 731.31. 

58. The reason for the "full and correct copy of the title and text" requirement "is 

to ensure that the issue is fairly and substantially presented to the electors and to 

avoid misleading electors." See E. Liverpool Citizens Against Traffic Cameras v. City 

of E. Liverpool, 7th Dist. Columbiana No. 18 CO 0027, 2019-Ohio-4080, ¶19-20. 

59. The requirements of R.C. 731.31 “must be met with strict compliance.” State 

ex rel. Esch v. Lake Cty. Bd. of Elections, 61 Ohio St.3d 595, 596, 575 N.E.2d 835 

(1991). 
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60. The title and text of the proposed ordinance in the pre-circulation petition 

filed with the city auditor is the same as the title and text of the proposed ordinance 

on the part petitions signed by voters. Accord Exhibit 1.A with 1.B. 

61. The petition signed by voters fails to notify them as to the municipality for 

which the proposed ordinance is applicable. Exhibit 1.B. 

62. The petitions signed by voters fails to notify them as to the election for which 

the ballot measure seeks to be placed. 

63. Nothing in the pre-circulation petition or the circulated petition amends any 

existing ordinance. 

64. No voter or signatory signed any petition to amend an existing ordinance. 

65. Amending an existing ordinance is substantively different than enacting an 

entirely new ordinance. 

66. Nothing in the pre-circulation petition or the circulated petition would enact 

a zoning ordinance. 

67. No voter or signatory signed any petition to enact a zoning ordinance. 

68. The designation of an ordinance as a zoning ordinance is substantive in 

nature. 

69. Nothing in the pre-circulation petition or the circulated petition would 

regulate drag performances as part of Bellefontaine’s zoning code for “Adult 

Entertainment.” 

70. No voter or signatory signed any petition to regulate drag performances as 

part of Bellefontaine’s zoning code regulating “Adult Entertainment.” 
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71. The ballot measure can only amend an existing city ordinance by dint of 

Secretary Frank LaRose’s tie vote based upon his novel legal theory that municipal 

initiative petitions in Ohio can be substantively altered post-circulation if the 

alteration is a “header.” 

72. The ballot measure can only become a zoning ordinance by dint of Secretary 

Frank LaRose’s  tie vote based on his novel theory that municipal initiative 

petitions in Ohio can be substantively altered post-circulation if the alteration is a 

“header.” 

73. The ballot measure can only become a zoning ordinance regulating “Adult 

Entertainment” by dint of Secretary Frank LaRose’s tie vote based on his novel 

theory that municipal initiative petitions in Ohio can be substantively altered post-

circulation if the alteration is a “header.” 

74. This Court should look to the substance over the form, cutting through any 

shift, device or subterfuge. 

75. Secretary Frank LaRose and the Logan County Board of Elections have 

abused their discretion and acted in clear disregard of applicable law. 

76. Relators are entitled to a writ of mandamus on this basis. 

 WHEREFORE, Relators Marshall L. Blair Hildreth; Christopher N. Hildreth 

Blair; Sarah B. Lewis; Victoria Maddox; and Katelyn Roby respectfully request this 

Honorable Court issue a writ of mandamus compelling Relators to sustain their 

electoral protest and stop placement of the Bellefontaine Anti-Drag Initiative on the 

November, 2023 ballot. 





State ex rel. Blair Hildreth et al. v. LaRose et al. 
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Filed Electoral Protest 

Aug. 25, 2023 
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“Exhibit 2” 
Submitted Petition 

July 24, 2023 
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“Exhibit 3” 
Affidavit of Relator Marshall L. Blair Hildreth 

Sept. 21, 2023 
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“Exhibit 4” 
Affidavit of Relator Christopher N. Hildreth Blair 
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“Exhibit 5” 
Affidavit of Relator Sarah B. Lewis 

Sept. 21, 2023 



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

State of Ohio ex rel. :
Marshall L. Blair Hildreth, et al.

:
Relators,

:
-vs-

: AFFIDAVIT OF SARAH B. LEWIS
Frank LaRose, et al.

:
Respndents.

STATE OF OHIO :
:ss

COUNTY OF DELAWARE :

Sarah B. Lewis, being first duly sworn according to law, states and avers as 
follows:

1. I make this Affidavit upon personal knowledge and in support of the 
Complaint for Writ of Mandamus to which it is attached.

2. I am above the age of majority, and a qualified elector of the City of 
Bellefontaine for the November 7, 2023 election.

3. I have read the facts set forth in the foregoing Complaint, and they are true.

4. I have read the exhibits attached to the Complaint, and they are true and 
correct copies of what they purport to be.

Further sayeth Affiant naught.

__________________________________
Sarah B. Lewis

Commonwealth of Virginia

County of Prince William, Virginia

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn

before me on 09/21/2023 by Sarah Beth Lewis.

7966620

My commission expires: 04/30/2025

Notarized online using audio-video communication

Electronic Notary Public
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Affidavit of Relator Victoria Maddox 

Sept. 21, 2023 





State ex rel. Blair Hildreth et al. v. LaRose et al. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Exhibit 7” 
Affidavit of Relator Katelyn Roby 
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“Exhibit 8” 
Bellefontaine City Council Meeting Minutes 

Jan. 1, 2023 
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BELLEFONTAINE CITY COUNCIL 

 MINUTES FOR TUESDAY, JANUARY 10, 2023 

 7:30 pm   
 
                                                                                               
CALL TO ORDER:   Zeb Wagner 
PLEDGE & INVOCATION: 

ROLL CALL: Aler     First Chair  

 Baker    

 DeSomma 

 James - absent 

 Lile    

 Reser 

 Springs    Minister  

 

Motion to excuse the absence of Mrs. James moved by  Springs, seconded by DeSomma   V Ayes  

  

SUSPENSION READING OF MINUTES:  moved by Springs, seconded by DeSomma   V Ayes 

CORRECTIONS/ADDITIONS:  none 

ADMINISTRATION REPORTS: 

 

Mayor - Introduction of  Jim Bischoff, City Engineer, who comes to the city with 23 years of engineering 

experience, 9 years on the private consulting side,13 years in municipal government, 7 of which were the 

Director of Public Works/City Engineer for the city of Marion.   

S/SD - Shares the good news that, because of funding through the Ohio Tech Cred Program, we were able to 

further the education of city team members with technical training in the area of GIS. 

Thanks the service and safety crews for the efforts that were put in over the Christmas weekend. 

Law - Light agenda with no new legislation.  Upcoming matters will include grants and a potential amendment to 

the community reinvestment area.  Concerning the CRA’s that were previously passed in 2018, looking at 

annexing new land into the city.  Under the CRA Laws through the State of Ohio we cannot just pass a 

resolution and add the land to our existing CRA, but must go through a more administrative process.  

Auditor - Three deadline dates to remind Council including  the 1st petition for reelection needs to be in by 4:00 pm 

on February 1st,  April 3rd deadline to file 2022 financial disclosure statement with the Ohio Ethics 

Commission and by the end of December 31st everyone must take public records course if not already 

taken in this term. 

Police Chief - Not present 

Fire Chief - No report 

Engineer- No report   

Parks & Rec- Not present 

Economic Dev- Received news concerning Ohio Development Brown Field Remediation Program that the applications for 

our community for Lewistown School and the McBeth School were both awarded city funding to move 

forward for remediation and possible demolition.  Thanks all for support. 

Attended a CRA meeting with the school board last evening regarding the CRA application for  the hotel in 

Bellefontaine.  Should be on track for a resolution at next meeting.  The goal to set up agreement for 

compensation to schools.  Thanks again for all support. 

Renovation was started at the Chamber Office yesterday and are temporarily located on the on 2nd floor as 

renovations take place on the 1st floor.  

 

REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 

   

Finance – The finance committee met this evening concerning capital budget requests with department heads and 

working on the permanent budget. 

Rules -  No report 

Safety -  No report 

Utilities - The committee will plan to meet when notified that the City of Oakwood Annual Survey is received.   



 

 
2  

Streets -  No report     

Sidewalks, Curbs & Parks -No report 

Audit –  No report 

 

Mayor -  State of the City Address  (copy att to clerk’s official minutes) 

 

  

COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITIZENS:  Danielle Stefaniszyn, 1712 White Pines, 1st Ward, here to express concerns 

over a metropolitan city type float in the recent Christmas Parade. 

Devan Palmer, 1612 White Pines Dr., Ward 1, here to express disappointment over some of the content in this year’s 

Christmas Parade.  Asks to put forth a possible resolution in collaboration with the Downtown Bellefontaine Partnership and 

other private organizations to develop a standard of conduct as it relates to community events with young audiences in 

attendance, with example including but not limited to costumes, outfits, behavior, attitudes, language, music and dance 

moves being appropriate for young audiences.  

 

INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES: 

 

 

1. ORDINANCES FOR 1ST READING 

 

 

2. ORDINANCES FOR 2ND READING 

  

 

 

3. ORDINANCES FOR 3RD READING 

 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM CLERK: A new liquor license for Eicholtz, Inc., 321 N. Main Street.  No objections, this 

will be mailed. 

Read an invitation for Council to celebrate the retirement of Office Blake A. Kenner, Police Department on Friday, February 

10, 2023 from 1:00 – 3:00 pm in Council Chambers. 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM COUNCIL:    

 

ADJOURNMENT -  8:10 pm moved by Lile, seconded by Aler 
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“Exhibit 9” 
Public Records Request of Counsel and Response from City Auditor 

Sept. 19, 2023 



Tim Steinhelfer <tim@ohiocivilappeals.com>

Public Records Request: Initiated Ordinance Petition(s)
2 messages

Tim Steinhelfer <tim@ohiocivilappeals.com> Mon, Sep 18, 2023 at 3:40 PM
To: fbrentlinger@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us

Mr. Brentlinger,

Please email me a copy of any pre-circulation (R.C. 731.32) initiative petitions filed with your office this year.

Sincerely,
--
Tim Steinhelfer, Attorney at Law
THE STEINHELFER FIRM, LLC
112 W. Columbus Avenue
Bellefontaine, Ohio 43311
(937) 900-0025
Tim@OhioCivilAppeals.com
TimISMYLAWYER.com
Leave no stone unturned.

Fred Brentlinger <fbrentlinger@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us> Tue, Sep 19, 2023 at 8:16 AM
To: Tim Steinhelfer <tim@ohiocivilappeals.com>
Cc: Heather Feasel <hfeasel@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us>, Ben Stahler <bstahler@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us>, Wes Dodds
<wdodds@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us>

Mr. Steinhelfer,

 

I have attached a copy of the pre-circulation initiative petition as presented to me on Friday, April 14, 2023 at
approximately 3:30pm.

 

Thank you.

 

Frederick L. Brentlinger, CPA

City Auditor

 

mailto:Tim@OhioCivilAppeals.com
http://timismylawyer.com/


You don't often get email from tim@ohiocivilappeals.com. Learn why this is important

   937-592-2215

 

 

 

This e-mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain private,
confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are
not the intended recipient, employee or agent responsible for delivering this message, please contact the sender by reply
e- mail and destroy all copies of the original e-mail message.

According to Ohio Public Records Law written communications to or from agencies/staff regarding this agency are public
records and may be available to the public and media upon request. Your e-mail may be subject to public disclosure.

 

 

From: Tim Steinhelfer <tim@ohiocivilappeals.com>
Sent: Monday, September 18, 2023 3:41 PM
To: Fred Brentlinger <fbrentlinger@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us>
Subject: Public Records Request: Initiated Ordinance Petition(s)

 

Caution: External Email

[Quoted text hidden]
This e-mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain private,
confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are
not the intended recipient, employee or agent responsible for delivering this message, please contact the sender by reply
e-mail and destroy all copies of the original e-mail message. According to Ohio Public Records Law written
communications to or from agencies/staff regarding this agency are public records and may be available to the public and
media upon request. Your e-mail may be subject to public disclosure.

Ballot Initiative Petition.pdf
367K

mailto:tim@ohiocivilappeals.com
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:tim@ohiocivilappeals.com
mailto:fbrentlinger@ci.bellefontaine.oh.us
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=0eaa580c76&view=att&th=18aad5f2c7c395cb&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
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“Exhibit 10” 
Letter to Ranae Lentz 

May 10, 2023 
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“Exhibit 11” 
Petitioner’s Response to Electoral Protest 

Sept. 6, 2023 
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“Exhibit 12” 
Hearing Transcript 

Sept. 7, 2023 
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THE BOARD OF ELECTIONS OF LOGAN COUNTY, OHIO

In re:

Protest of Bellefontaine 
Ordinance Initiative Petition

_____________________________________/

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

Date: September 7, 2023

Time: 9:00 a.m. - 11:55 a.m.

Location: Logan County Board of Elections
225 South Main Street
Bellefontaine, Ohio 43311 

Reported By: Belinda M. Wolford
Registered Professional Reporter 
and Notary Public, 
State of Ohio.

BOARD MEMBERS:

Kathryn Clark, Board Member 
Robert Fulton, Chairman
Steven Fansler, Board Member
Ranae Lentz, Board Member

ALSO PRESENT:

Adam Brannon, Deputy Director
Kandie Horton, Director
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A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S 

FOR THE PROTESTORS:  Victoria Maddox, Katelyn Roby, 
Christopher N. Hildreth Blair, Sarah B. Lewis, and 
Marshall L. Blair Hildreth

Tim Steinhelfer, Esquire 
The Steinhelfer Firm 
112 West Columbus Avenue 
Bellefontaine, Ohio 43311 
(937) 900-0025 

FOR THE PETITIONERS:  Danielle Stefaniszyn, Devin Palmer, 
Skate Buchanan, Charles Palmer, Renee Price, and Julia 
Cook:

Josh Brown, Esquire 
The Law Office of Josh Brown LLC 
3979 Main Street 
Hilliard, Ohio 43026 
(614) 383-8886 

FOR THE BOARD OF ELECTIONS:

Breanne Parcels, Esquire
Logan County Prosecutor's Office
117 East Columbus Avenue
Suite 200
Bellefontaine, Ohio 43311
(937) 599-7272

ALSO PRESENT (spelled to the best of ability):

Tom Reynolds, Edward M. Price, Drew Green, (indiscernible 
first name) Green, Robert Rood, Julie George, Gary Brown, 
Barbra Gant, Amanda Housler, April King, Steve Hudson, 
Josh Stolly, Bernie Even, Doug Minnich, Sue Neer, Mark 
Boyer, Chamika Coller.
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P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  The Board of Elections is 

coming out of recess at 9:00 a.m. for the purpose 

of hearing the protest to the action taken on 

August 21st to approve a ballot initiative.  

Turning the meeting over to Steve Fansler to 

conduct the hearing.  

MR. FANSLER:  Good morning, everyone.  I'm 

going to read a brief statement -- maybe not so 

brief -- to lay some ground rules and let everybody 

know where we are today.  I want to start, though, 

with one statement that we all heard when we were 

appointed by the Secretary of State to take this 

position.  It's very simple, and we've always tried 

to follow it closely.  And that was this:  Leave 

your politics at the door.  We are to be serving in 

our position with open minds, an unbiased nature, 

to decide things to create a fair election process 

in every case.  That's what we attempt to do.  Of 

course, we're all a product of our entire lives.  

We're a product of what we've heard, what we've 

been taught, what we've become.  We can't leave 

what we think about things out of the mix, but we 

can approach things in an unbiased way.  

So as to today's hearing, the Board of 
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Elections of Logan County, Ohio is in session today 

for a special meeting solely to consider the merits 

of a protest to an initiative petition which has 

previously been filed and approved by the Board of 

Elections and which would otherwise be placed on 

the fall 2023 ballot on November 7th of 2023.  

Among the petitions presented for review at our 

regularly-scheduled Board of Elections meeting on 

August 21, 2023 at 4:30 p.m. was an initiative 

petition filed by a committee of people seeking to 

amend or add to Bellefontaine Codified Ordinance 

1177.02.  No other action taken at that board 

meeting is relevant to today's hearing.  

Today's hearing is solely for the purpose of 

allowing the required hearing based upon the filing 

on August 25, 2023 at 3:37 p.m. entitled Protest of 

Bellefontaine Ordinance Initiative Petition.  That 

petition was filed by and through Attorney Tim 

Steinhelfer and was filed on behalf of protestors 

Victoria Maddox, Katelyn Roby, Christopher N. 

Hildreth Blair, Sarah B. Lewis, and Marshall Blair 

Hildreth.  The Board of Elections of each county is 

instructed and obligated by the Ohio Revised Code 

Section 3501.11(K)(1) to review, examine, and 

certify the sufficiency and validity of petitions 
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and to examine each initiative petition to 

determine whether the petition falls within the 

scope of authority to enact via initiative and also 

to determine whether the petition satisfies the 

statutory prerequisites to place that issue on the 

ballot.  

At the regularly-scheduled Board of Elections 

meeting on August 21, 2023, this board reviewed 

this initiative petition and determined that the 

petition falls within the scope of authority to 

enact via initiative and that the petition 

satisfied the statutory prerequisites to place the 

issue on the ballot.  From a review of that protest 

filed on August 25, 2023, it does not appear that 

the question of whether or not the petition falls 

within the scope of authority to enact via 

initiative is being challenged.  The protest is 

based upon whether the petition satisfies the 

statutory prerequisites to place the issue on the 

ballot.  The protest speaks for itself, sets forth 

different reasons why the protestors believe the 

petition did not satisfy the statutory 

prerequisites to place it on the ballot, thus 

today's hearing.  

The Ohio Revised Code Section 3501.39 sets 
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forth grounds for rejection of a petition or 

declaration of a candidate.  In this case we're 

talking about the rejection of a petition not a 

declaration of candidacy.  To initiate this 

process, a written protest against the petition 

must be filed and has been filed.  A hearing must 

be held pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 

3501.39(A)(1), Ohio Revised Code Section 

3501.39(A)(3), also states that the initiative 

petition would fail if it is outside of the scope 

of the authority to act by initiative or if it did 

not satisfy the statutory prerequisites.  

The Board of Elections previously has 

determined that both of those requirements were met 

and that the initiative petition was effective and 

did not fail.  All of our Board of Elections 

decisions must be made by a majority vote pursuant 

to Ohio Revised Code Section 3501.11.  In the event 

of a tie or a disagreement within the board or if 

no decision can be reached by the board, the 

director or the chairperson submits the controversy 

directly to the Secretary of State, who shall 

within 14 days decide the question.  

So, a determination was made by the board 

that the petition was valid.  The protest was 
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filed.  Today's hearing is upon us.  The Board of 

Elections is, in essence, the judge at such 

hearing.  The Board of Elections sets the rules for 

the hearings and considers all evidence presented.  

The rules for the hearing today are as follows:  

Number one.  No person in the audience may speak 

unless they've been recognized by the person 

conducting the hearing.  

Number two, upon being recognized, before 

speaking, each person must clearly state his or her 

name for the record.  

Number three, all statements must be oral and 

each presenter shall keep in mind that the 

recording -- the proceeding is being recorded.  We 

have a court reporter here, so that motions, 

signals, or any type of facial or bodily actions 

cannot be captured by that reporter so each 

presenter's word must be loud, clear, and available 

for transcription.  Only one person may speak at a 

time.  

Number five -- and this is crucial to us and 

to this hearing.  The hearing today is a procedural 

hearing to determine the validity of a petition.  

No person's personal feelings about the outcome of 

a vote or on the subject matter of the petition is 
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relevant to today's hearing.  The hearing will not 

accept or allow people to get into a debate, a 

heated discussion, or otherwise to discuss the 

merits of the underlying proposed legislation.  

Today's hearing has nothing to do with the merits.  

It has nothing to do with the feelings.  It has 

nothing to do with what we all think about the 

issue.  Today's hearing discusses the process, the 

procedure, and the propriety, and the proper or 

improper methodology of starting and completing an 

initiative petition process.  

When one person is speaking, no other person 

from the audience may speak.  It will be grounds 

for removal from the hearing if a person engages in 

name calling, disparaging remarks, or angry or 

reactive responses to any presenter.  This hearing 

is not about the subject matter but the procedural 

process.  Because a determination has already been 

made by the board, today's hearing is based upon 

the objection to that decision, and the burden of 

going forward, therefore, is with the protestors.  

The case will begin with the opportunity of counsel 

for the protestors to make his opening remarks.  

Thereafter, counsel for the protestors shall 

present to the Board of Elections his or their case 
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to be considered as a protest to the board's 

earlier determination that the petition is 

sufficient and valid.  This may include his 

statement, witnesses presenting testimony, and 

presenting exhibits.  

At the conclusion of the protestor's case, 

counsel for the petition committee may make an 

opening statement.  In fact, if he would prefer to 

make an opening statement following the opening 

statement, we'll give you the option of either 

following his opening statement with yours or 

reserving it until you present your case.  

Thereafter, counsel for petition committee shall 

present to the Board of Elections the committee's 

case to contradict the protest and/or to bolster 

the acceptance of the petition.  This, again, may 

include calling witnesses, presenting testimony, 

and presenting exhibits.  

At the conclusion of both cases, the Board of 

Elections will recess for discussion.  At the 

conclusion of that we may advise everyone that 

we're taking it under advisement.  If so, we'll 

tell you an exact time and date which the decision 

will be issued, and that would again be at a public 

meeting.  Or we may issue decision by vote today.  
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I think it's more likely that we will take it under 

advisement because they are serious issues.  No one 

has preconceived their decision.  We're going to 

hear all of the evidence and all of the testimony 

before we do that.  So, we are ready to proceed.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I just have a housekeeping 

question that I think both of us are interested 

in -- 

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, let's start 

with state your name -- every time let's begin by 

stating names so the record is clear.  So we 

recognize Tim Steinhelfer.  Go ahead.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Tim Steinhelfer, number 

99877 for the protestors.  Just briefly, is there 

going to be cross and is there going to be closings 

or are we not going to do -- bother with those 

things?  

MR. FANSLER:  There will be available the 

cross-examination on each witness, yes.  As for 

closing, when we get done, yes, we'll give you the 

option to make a closing statement, yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  All right.  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, we're to your 

case.  You may begin.  You can either make or waive 

an opening statement and then we'll be ready to 
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begin with your presentation.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  We're going to make an 

opening statement because most of this has to do 

with the law.  Good morning, everybody.  First, I 

want to thank the members of the board for 

arranging this hearing on short notice.  You know 

better than any of us how important it is to avoid 

delay in election matters.  For today's maxi 

challenge, you must determine whether the proponent 

of a petition seeking to regulate how people in 

Bellefontaine dress in public complied with Ohio -- 

MR. BROWN:  Objection.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  -- election law.  

MR. BROWN:  They already said -- 

MR. STEINHELFER:  This is my opening.  Calm 

down.  

MR. BROWN:  Objection.  You're introducing 

evidence.  It's not argument. 

MR. FANSLER:  Let's go to the opening 

statement.  Again, let's keep it to the procedural 

aspect and not the subject matter.  But go ahead.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I hope that here today we 

can shed light upon the details of this entire 

case.  I want to talk for a second about the 

details because I think it's very important that 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

12

each of you pays close attention to the evidence: 

 -- what's there and what is not there -- and you 

can determine whether the proper procedure was 

followed to allow this ballot measure, as written, 

to be placed on the November ballot.  

If you look at our August 25th protest, it 

gives all of the details that were known to the 

protestor at that time.  It gives names, dates, 

statutes, procedure, and it even sets forth how the 

protestors came to know these facts.  We're going 

to put more of that evidence on today through 

direct testimony.  As the board well knows, details 

are important in election law; an entire case can 

turn on the details.  

I've had the opportunity last night to review 

the petitioner's written responses to the protest, 

and to put matters mercifully, it's very scant on 

details.  The only details they give about the 

collection of the signatures and the submission of 

the petition is that, quote, Mr. Buchanan is a 

member of a committee that submitted a petition 

with 796 signatures to amend the Bellefontaine 

municipal code.  And then it refers to the petition 

in quotes with a capital P.  Doesn't tell us which 

one of the three petitions attached to the protest 
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was circulated, which one they're talking about, 

and I think that was intentional.  It doesn't 

specify which one of the three protests was filed, 

when it was filed, who filed it, or even which 

public office it was filed.  

Then, incredibly, on page six of this 

response we have a heading that says:  Petitioner 

did it right.  Well, that sort of assertion would 

seem to beg the details of how the petitioners did 

it right.  That is to say, how they complied with 

the applicable Ohio election law.  Instead of 

setting forth any of those details, we get the 

opinion of counsel about his sentiments on 

citizens' general right to bring initiative 

petitions.  Well, that's a bunch of who shot John 

and it misses the point of this proceeding 

entirely.  The Ohio Supreme Court has passed on 

this issue as recently as August 3rd of 2023.  

MR. FANSLER:  Just a second.  Just one 

moment.  Again, we're going to try to keep this as 

close to a proceeding.  It sounds like we're 

getting into argument which I think is going to be 

your closing argument as opposed to an opening 

statement which tells us what your evidence is 

going to be.  Just try to make that distinction if 
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you can.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I'm going to try to, 

Mr. Fansler, but there is a case where the Ohio 

Supreme Court explains the procedure with which 

they must comply and that's about what I'm going to 

get into.  

MR. FANSLER:  Okay.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  It is a case called Schmitt 

versus Bridgeport.  We, in fact, included that as 

our Exhibit 10 for your convenience.  If you look 

at paragraph four to five of that opinion, our 

State Supreme Court explains the proper procedure 

for municipal initiative petitions in a non 

chartered city such as Bellefontaine.  They 

explained, quote, before such a petition may be 

circulated, its proponent must file a certified 

copy of the proposed ordinance.  

The evidence will -- is going to show that 

that did in fact happen.  That happened on 

April 14th.  And that is included in the protest.  

Then, to qualify the initiative for the ballot, 

proponents must file the petition containing the 

valid signatures of no less than ten percent of the 

number of electors who voted for governor in the 

municipality at the most recent general 
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gubernatorial election.  They said crucially for 

this case, the law requires -- they're citing 

731.28, which we cite in our protest as well -- 

that the completed petition with all the signatures 

be filed with the city auditor.  

I don't even know whether that happened here, 

how this came to -- into the possession of the 

Board of Elections, but in this case as recently as 

two years ago, our State Supreme Court decided that 

failing to file it with the city auditor, the 

completed petition, was fatal to an initiative 

petition requiring the sustaining of a protest.  

You are going to see more evidence today.  

You're going to hear the direct testimony of 

Victoria Maddox who actually saw the circulating of 

the petition, who took a picture of it, and not 

only was it not the same petition that was filed 

with the public office that made this a zoning 

ordinance, it didn't even specify the municipality 

for which this was proposed, failing to give the 

signatories notice of the jurisdiction in which -- 

for which this ordinance was supposed to be put on 

the ballot.  That is fatal to their claim.  

It is a rare instance that we catch someone 

so red handed.  I want you to pay attention to 
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what's there, what is not there, and when you do, 

you will determine that the board has a clear, 

legal duty to sustain this protest and make this 

valid measure sashay away.  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you, Mr. Steinhelfer.  

Mr. Brown, I'm going to give you the opportunity to 

make a statement now or reserve that until you 

begin your case.  

MR. BROWN:  We'll reserve.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Mr. Steinhelfer, 

you may begin your presentation.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I'm going to call my first, 

which will be Sarah Lewis.  

MR. FANSLER:  Each witness will testify from 

this place over here and will be sworn by the court 

reporter before beginning.  So if you'll go to the 

place, remain standing to be sworn in before 

sitting down.

SARAH LEWIS,

Having been first duly sworn, as hereinafter 

certified, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. STEINHELFER:  

Q. Ms. Lewis, would you state your name and 

spell it for the record.  
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A. Sarah B. Lewis.  S-A-R-A-H, L-E-W-I-S.  

Middle initial B. 

Q. And your address, please? 

A. 766 East Columbus Avenue, Bellefontaine, 

Ohio.  

Q. Okay.  Are you a registered voter here in 

Bellefontaine?  

A. I am.  

Q. I see, ma'am, that you on occasion wear 

pants; is that correct?

A. That is absolutely correct.  

Q. Do you ever wear a blazer or a jacket? 

A. I do.  

Q. Do you have any professional license?  

A. I am, as of May, a certified paralegal.  

Q. Okay.  Do you work in any manner with 

families or children?

A. I do. 

(Protestors' Exhibit 1-G, affidavit of Sarah Lewis, 

identified.)  

Q. Okay.  I am going to direct your attention to 

my exhibit -- and there's an exhibit book right there -- 

1-G.  Do you recognize that?  

A. I do, yes.  

Q. What do you recognize it to be?  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

18

A. This is the affidavit that I prepared and 

signed.  

Q. Okay.  And did you, in fact, have the 

opportunity to examine the entire petition that is our 

Exhibit A?  

A. I did, that's correct.  

(Protestors' Exhibit 1-A, proposed ordinance, 

identified.) 

Q. I'm going to direct your attention to our 

Exhibit 1-A.  Did you have the opportunity to review 

Exhibit 1-A?  

A. Yes, I did.  

Q. And I'm going to read this to you in 

pertinent part.  The following is a full and correct copy 

of the title and text of the proposed ordinance.  The 

classification of drag artist and drag shows as adult 

cabaret performance.  Adult oriented exhibitions 

featuring male and female impersonators who provide 

displays and entertainment appealing to sexual interests 

shall not permit the attendance of a minor.  Adult 

cabaret performances shall not be held on public property 

or any location viewable by a minor.  Did I read that 

correctly, ma'am?  

A. You did.  Yes, you did. 

(Protestors' Exhibit 1-C, Initiative Petition, 
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identified.)  

Q. I'm going to have you flip to our 

Exhibit 1-C.  Did you have the opportunity to review this 

exhibit?  

A. I did, yes.  

Q. I'm going to read to you the pertinent part.  

The following is a full and correct copy of the title and 

text of the proposed ordinance.  Proposal to amend city 

of Bellefontaine codified ordinance Chapter 1177 adult 

entertainment 1177.02 definition by adding the following 

text.  The classification of drag artist and drag shows 

as adult cabaret performance.  Adult-oriented exhibitions 

featuring male or female impersonators who provide 

displays and entertainment appealing to sexual interest 

shall not permit the attendance of a minor.  Adult 

cabaret performances shall not be held on public property 

or any location viewable by a minor.  Did I read that 

correctly, ma'am?  

A. Yes, you did.  

Q. Is it the same text as what I read in 1-A?  

A. No, it is not.  

Q. They're different; is that right? 

A. That's correct.  

Q. Does the text in 1-A give any indication that 

this is a zoning ordinance?  
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A. No, it does not.  

Q. Does the text in 1-C specify a certain 

section in the Bellefontaine codified ordinances?  

A. Yes, it does. 

Q. And are you aware what type of ordinance that 

is?  

A. It's respective to a zoning ordinance.  

Q. Does the text in 1-A filed within the city 

auditor contain anything about the classification of 

adult entertainment?  

A. No, it does not.  

Q. And what about on our Exhibit 1-C?  

A. Yes, it does.  

Q. Do you know who submitted this petition?  

A. I do not.  

Q. Do you know whether it was submitted to the 

Bellefontaine City Auditor Fred Brentlinger after the 

collection of signatures?  

A. I do not.  

Q. Are you asking for this petition to be 

excluded from the November ballot on the basis of its 

noncompliance with Ohio election law?  

A. Yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No further questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Brown, do you have any 
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questions?  

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN: 

Q. Are you an attorney?  

A. No.  

Q. Do you have knowledge of Ohio election law, 

any expertise in that subject? 

A. Do I have expertise?  

Q. Are you going to testify as an expert on that 

subject?  

A. No.  

Q. Which law do you think that this petition 

violates?

A. Which law do I believe it violates?  

Q. You just testified it violates Ohio law.  

A. Ohio Revised Code. 

Q. Which one?  

A. Off the top of my head I do not know.  

Q. And can you look at Exhibit 1-C, please?   

A. Yes.  

Q. Are you testifying that the language that 

says proposal to amend City of Bellefontaine, that title 

was not there when you signed the petition -- well, when 

you saw the original petition? 

A. I did not sign the original petition. 
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Q. I'm sorry.  But you saw it, right?

A. That's correct.  

Q. That title wasn't there? 

A. That is correct.  

Q. Is that what your problem is with the -- this 

being on the ballot? 

A. Is that what my problem is?  

Q. Yeah.  Your problem is that title wasn't 

there when you first saw it?  

A. That is an issue that was brought to the 

attention, that's correct.  

Q. Okay.  Do you have any idea how that title 

got there? 

A. I have no idea.  

MR. BROWN:  Okay.  No more questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, additional 

questions of this witness?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Ma'am, thank you for 

your testimony.  You're free to go or stay and 

continue watching.  Mr. Steinhelfer, your next 

witness.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Fred Brentlinger.  Did he 

leave?  

MR. FANSLER:  I haven't seen him.  Is he -- 
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did you -- was he subpoenaed to be here?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  I didn't know we could 

issue subpoenas.  

MR. FANSLER:  I haven't seen him here.  

Mr. Brentlinger here?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Okay.  It appears he's not 

here.  We will call Mr. Brannon.  

MR. FANSLER:  Okay. 

ADAM BRANNON,

Having been first duly sworn, as hereinafter 

certified, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Sir, please state your name and spell it for 

the record.  

A. Adam Brannon, A-D-A-M, B-R-A-N-N-O-N.  

Q. And where are you employed?  

A. Here at the Logan County Board of Elections.  

Q. Just to be sure, you're not on the Board of 

Elections, you're an employee; is that correct?

A. That is correct. 

Q. What is your position? 

A. I'm the deputy director.  

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  Have you had the 

opportunity to review the response filed on behalf of the 
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petitioners with regard to this protest?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  There's an allegation in there that 

you were the person, the drafter of the language at my 

Exhibit 1-C.  Can you flip to my 1-C?  

MS. PARCELS:  I would object on the basis of 

foundation.  There's been no foundation for -- 

MR. STEINHELFER:  Well, why -- 

MR. BROWN:  You have to be an attorney to 

make an appearance.  

MS. PARCELS:  I am an attorney.  My name is 

Breanne Parcels, 0089370. 

MR. STEINHELFER:  Who do you represent?  

MS. PARCELS:  I'm an attorney for the Board 

of Elections, therefore I'm an attorney for 

Mr. Brannon.  

MR. BROWN:  I have no problem with that.  I 

just wanted to make the appearance before you give 

an objection. 

MR. FANSLER:  Well, what was your question 

again, Mr. Steinhelfer?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  We didn't have one.  I 

don't know what she's objecting to.  

MS. PARCELS:  I'm objecting on the 

foundation.  There's been no testimony -- 
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MR. STEINHELFER:  Well, can you let me lay 

one and have a question out there before you start 

objecting, please?  

MR. FANSLER:  Ask your question.  We'll see 

what -- 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Excuse me.  Excuse me.  

One minute.  One minute here.  You all need to quit 

talking over each other, okay?  I'm not a magician 

here, so one at a time. 

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Mr. Steinhelfer, do 

you have a question? 

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Sir, did you draft this language that I'm 

about to read:  Proposal to amend City of Bellefontaine 

codified ordinance chapter 177 [sic] adult entertainment 

177.02 [sic] definition by adding the following text?  

A. No.  

Q. Are you familiar with the circumstances by 

which the petition came in to the board of elections?  

A. Yes. 

Q. And can you explain that in your own words?  

A. The petition was filed with the city auditor.  

According to the letter provided to us when he filed it 

with us, it was July 24th, I believe.  And then when he 

conducted the ten-day inspection period as required, he 
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brought it to our office for submittal.  

Q. So the completed petition was in fact filed 

with the city auditor --

A. Yes. 

Q. -- that's your understanding?  Okay.  Do you 

know -- and I'm going to have you take a look at our 1-A, 

1-B, and 1-C -- which if any of these is what was filed 

with the city auditor in July of this year?  

MS. PARCELS:  Objection.  Mr. Brannon is not 

a city employee.  He is a Board of Elections 

employee.  He cannot speak to matters outside his 

knowledge.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I asked him whether he 

knew.  If he doesn't know, he doesn't know. 

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Brannon, if you know the 

answer to the question, which was when it was 

submitted to Mr. Brentlinger?  Was that the 

question, Mr. Steinhelfer?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Yes.

MR. FANSLER:  If you know. 

THE WITNESS:  I don't know which of these was 

submitted to Mr. Brentlinger.  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. When Mr. Brentlinger submitted it to your 

office, was that early August after the ten-day?  
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A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  When that came into your possession, 

which of these was transmitted by Mr. Brentlinger?  

A. 1-C was what was submitted to our office. 

Q. Have you had the opportunity to -- do you 

have any knowledge of the pre-circulation petition that 

was filed with the city auditor?  

A. The only thing I'm aware of based on the 

information I have outside of my job here is 1-A is what 

was submitted to the city auditor at the beginning of the 

process.  

Q. Okay.  Is that also part of the records on 

file here with the Board of Elections?  

A. We have a copy of 1-A that was provided by a 

citizen.  

Q. And is it your understanding, then, that this 

is what was -- the certified copy required to be filed 

prior to circulation?  

A. I'm sorry, say that again.  

Q. Okay.  Is -- what is your understanding of 

what 1-A is, if you have any understanding? 

A. I don't -- all I know is that is what they 

intended to have submitted to the auditor as what they 

were circulating.  

Q. Okay.  And to be sure, that allegation in the 
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response that you drafted this title has no truth to it.  

A. No, I did not draft anything.  The only 

notation I've changed on the petition was on the top 

you'll see 25 out the 38, AB, when we check the petitions 

we note how many were valid out of how many signatures 

and then initial it so we know who checked that petition.

Q. You mean how many part -- what we call part 

petitions? 

A. For that page, that part petition that was 38 

signature lines, 25 of those lines were valid signatures 

on that particular page.  

(Protestor's Exhibit 2, part petition with signature 

pages, identified.) 

Q. This -- I understand.  I'm going to show you 

what I'm marking as my Exhibit 2.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  And I want to give opposing 

counsel the opportunity to review it because the 

pages are so large here (indicating) we couldn't 

make copies to include it in your books, so -- if 

you'd view, please. 

MR. BROWN:  Certified -- 

THE COURT REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I can't hear 

you.  I can't hear you. 

MR. FANSLER:  We're going to have to -- 

MR. BROWN:  We're having a conversation off 
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the record. 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Well say off the record 

then.  

MR. FANSLER:  For the record, counsel is 

having a discussion off the record.  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. All right.  Sir, I'm going show you what I've 

marked as my Exhibit 2.  Do you recognize that?  

A. Yes.  

Q. What do you recognize it to be?  

A. So, this is the cover page of one of the part 

petitions, the proposed chapter that was included with 

the submission, and then the signature pages for each 

part petition.  

Q. And to be sure, when you say the proposed 

chapter, was that -- are you talking about -- can you 

count them?  Four pages?  

A. These -- yeah.  Three pages.  

Q. And you know that to be a true and accurate 

copy of what was submitted -- what?

MR. FANSLER:  Again, a discussion is being 

held off the record and will not be part of the 

transcript.  Back on the record.  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Other than the fact that what you call the 
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cover page is not attached to each and every signature 

page -- 

A. When it was submitted, when the whole 

petition was submitted, there was this page (indicating), 

which was the cover to each of these signature pages.  

And then with each of the part petitions was these three 

letter-sized pages, which is the proposed Chapter 1177 

that then included the addition that's added.  

Q. Thank you, sir.  I do need you to let me 

finish this question because this ends up in the Supreme 

Court, we need to create a record.  Is that a true and 

accurate copy of the petition as transmitted to you by 

the city auditor in August of this year?  

A. Save for the fact that not every part 

petition has the cover page, yes.  

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  And at this point can I 

just give that you to, Mr. Fansler?  

MR. FANSLER:  Yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Okay.  And I have no 

further questions for this witness.  

MS. CLARK:  I do have one question that I 

would like to ask.  Adam -- if I can call you 

Adam -- when -- in the respondents' filings they 

refer to you as putting a title on a ballot.  Has a 
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ballot ever been completed yet for this issue?  

THE WITNESS:  No, we've not created a ballot 

for this election yet.  

MS. CLARK:  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  So there is an identification, 

Kathryn Clark, a member of the Board of Elections 

posed that question to the witness.  Mr. Brown, do 

you have questions of this witness?  

MR. BROWN:  Yes, sir.  Attorney Josh Brown on 

behalf of the petitioner.  You mind if I sit while 

I ask questions?  

MR. FANSLER:  No, that's fine. 

MR. BROWN:  Thanks.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. I would like you to look at Exhibit 1-C.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Mr. Brown, if I might ask, 

can you speak up a little bit?  Some of us have 

hearing difficulties.  

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. I would like you to look at Exhibit 1-C.  

A. (Nods head).  

Q. And compare it to 1-A.  And in terms of the 

ballot language or the petition language, is there any 

differences?  
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A. So where 1-A just has the classification of 

drag artist, 1-C includes the proposal to amend city of 

Bellefontaine codified ordinance.  Other than that the 

following -- the adding the following text, that is the 

same as what is on 1-A. 

Q. And can you explain why there's a difference 

there?  

A. I cannot.  

Q. Did you ever talk to any of the petitioners 

about adding this title in?  

A. When they initially approached us, I provided 

them Chapter 6 from our election official manual, which 

deals with municipal initiative referendum, told them 

about the full and correct copy of the title and text, 

you know, laid out what that was to be.  Now, as far as 

what -- if there's an addition, I don't recall having 

said there needed to be an addition of that.  But that's 

all I remember from our conversations is pointing them in 

the directions they need to be.  

MR. BROWN:  Can I have a quick recess?  Can 

we go off the record real quick?  

(Discussion held off the record.)

MR. BROWN:  Thank you.  Back on the record.  

MR. FANSLER:  We're back on the record.  Adam 

Brannon is still on the witness stand.  The 
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question is to Mr. Brown at this time.  

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. Mr. Brannon, what's your experience in the 

Board of Elections?  

A. Been director or deputy director since -- 

well, December of 2014, but been employed here since 

September, 2014.  

Q. What's been your job at the Board of 

Elections?  Can you explain your progression?

A. So we were hired in as clerks to learn for 

the first election and then was employed as director and 

deputy director again, December 1st, 2014.  Been in 

alternating positions since that time.  

Q. What's under the responsibility -- well, let 

me strike that. 

Did you ever have any role in approving 

municipal initiatives before?  

A. We've had a couple different initiatives that 

have been filed.  The role that I've had is to check the 

signatures against our records to make sure the 

signatures are valid or not, and then we provide that 

information to the board.  We've discussed with the 

county prosecutor on different ones on whether it's 

within the scope of the initiative process, and we've had 

I think two or so that were removed based on that issue.  
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Q. What do you mean you've had two you said were 

removed? 

A. There was two -- or there was a gentleman 

passing a marijuana initiative for Bellefontaine.  He did 

it for a couple other municipalities.  The county 

prosecutor determined that was not within the scope of 

the initiative process to initiate.  

Q. So, if the county prosecutor made the 

determination, what was your role in that? 

A. Passing that information to the board.  

Q. Okay.  Just passing information, nothing 

else?  

A. Not as far as we provide the information to 

the prosecutor and say here's what's been provided to us 

and then we pass the information back.  

Q. Do you ever offer advice to people that are 

preparing petitions?  

A. We answer questions best we can, yes.  

Q. On June 21st of 2022 -- 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  July of this year.  

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. I'm sorry, July 21st?  July 21st, 2022, did 

some people come in to talk to you about the petition 

that's in question here today?  

A. July 21st of this year, yes, they spoke with 
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us. 

Q. It was '23?  

A. Yeah.  

Q. Sorry.  

A. Yeah, they came and spoke with us then -- or 

spoke with me then.  Sorry.  

Q. Do you remember what advice you gave them?  

A. I told them that it needed to -- that once 

they were completed they needed to file with the city 

auditor.  As far as anything beyond that, I don't recall 

an exact reproduction of the conversation, no.  

Q. You don't recall anything other than telling 

them that once it was completed they have to file with 

the city auditor? 

A. I know they provide -- or showed me the 1-C 

and the three -- the chapter that they had included as 

well, that Chapter 1177 with the inclusion of the 

addition that they're asking for.  They showed me those 

and then didn't have any -- there was no particular 

question to what they were asking me.  I believe the 

statement is does this look good.  And, again, we don't 

issue blanket statements.  When we do petitions, it's do 

you have a particular question on a part of the petition.  

The only -- again, what I recall of the conversation is 

they asked me if what they had was sufficient.  Again, I 
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can't make that determination.  All I can provide is 

that, you know, that was a professional looking petition.  

Other than that, I don't have any ability to say one way 

or the other.  

Q. Do you have any knowledge of how the title 

got added to 1-C?  

A. No.  

Q. In terms of that July 1st [sic] conversation, 

you say your memory is strong on that or is it kind of -- 

A. I remember it occurring.  I don't -- I'll be 

honest.  I do not suffer from any memory issues, but to 

say I recall every conversation, I don't have that.  

Q. Do you frequently have conversations with 

people about these types of matters?  

A. Within the scope of the office, yes. 

MR. BROWN:  Okay.  I don't have anymore 

questions.  I would like to reserve the right to 

re-call him in our case.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Nothing further for this 

witness.  

MR. FANSLER:  Okay.  Mr. Brannon, you're 

excused.  Mr. Steinhelfer, you may call your next 

witness.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  My next witness is Barbra 
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Joe Gant. 

BARBRA GANT,

Having been first duly sworn, as hereinafter 

certified, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Ma'am, can you state your name and spell it 

for the record, please?  

A. Yes.  My name is Barbra Gant.  The first name 

is spelled B-A-R-B-R-A, last name is G-A-N-T.  

Q. And are you a registered voter under that 

name here in Logan County? 

A. Yes, I am.  

Q. I'm going to have you flip to our 

Exhibit 1-A.  Ma'am, in April of this year did you make a 

public records request to the Bellefontaine City Auditor 

Fred Brentlinger?  

A. I did.  

Q. Looking at that Exhibit 1-A -- and I'm 

talking about the second page of it.  

A. Yes. 

Q. You see where there's an e-mail address at 

the top?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Is that your e-mail address?  
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A. It is.  

Q. Is this the public records request that you 

made? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And referring to the first page of 

Exhibit 1-A, is that what you received in response to 

that request?  

A. It is.  

Q. Have you had the opportunity to review this?  

A. Yes.  

Q. I'm going to direct your attention to my 

Exhibit 1-C.  Have you -- I'll let you get there first.  

A. Okay.  

Q. Have you had the opportunity to review this?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Is the text of the ordinance the same?  

A. No.  

Q. Does the text of the ordinance that you 

received from the city auditor in April give any 

indication that this is a zoning ordinance?  

A. No.  

Q. And to be clear, 1-C does in fact do that?  

It specifies a certain zoning ordinance?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Does the text of the draft you received from 
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the city auditor pursuant to your public records request 

state that it is amending a specific section of the 

Bellefontaine codified ordinances?  

A. No.  

Q. And 1-C does specify a specific section; is 

that correct? 

A. Yes, correct.  

Q. Does the text of the draft you received 

pursuant to your public record request at 1-A give any 

indication that it is classifying something as adult 

entertainment?  

A. No.  

Q. And to be sure, 1-C does do that?  

A. Yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Okay.  I have no further 

questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Brown, questions of this 

witness?  

MR. BROWN:  No questions.  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Thank you for 

testifying.  Mr. Steinhelfer, your next witness.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I'm going to call to the 

stand Victoria Maddox. 

VICTORIA MADDOX,

Having been first duly sworn, testifies as 
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follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Ma'am, can you state your name and spell it 

for the record?

A. Victoria Maddox.  V-I-C-T-O-R-I-A, 

M-A-D-D-O-X.  

Q. And your address?

A. 556 East High Avenue, Bellefontaine, Ohio 

43311, apartment two.  

Q. Do you have any reason to believe that the 

petition submitted for placement on the ballot is 

different than the pre-circulation petition that Ms. Gant 

just testified to?  

A. One more time with that, please.  

Q. What's that?

A. Can you repeat that, please?  

Q. Do you have any reason to believe that the 

petition submitted for the November ballot is different 

than the one that the voters actually signed?  

A. Yes. 

(Protestors' Exhibit 1-B, photo of petition, identified.) 

Q. I'm going to direct your attention to my 

Exhibit 1-B.  Since these are double sided, everybody, 

sometimes it's on the back of the tab.  If you look at 
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the bottom, what do we see there at the very bottom of 

the page?

A. My thumb.  

Q. Did you take this picture? 

A. I did.  

Q. Do you recall when you took this picture?  

A. Oh, July 14th, I believe.  I'm not 

positive -- I know it was the 14th, I just can't remember 

which one.  

Q. Could it have been April 14th?  

A. That's it.  April 14th.  Apologize.  

Q. Now, ma'am, where were you when you took the 

picture?

A. Outside the courthouse by the fountain.  

Q. I'm going to direct your attention to the 

first of the text here.  Were you following along with 

the testimony of everybody else here today? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And is the text -- and I want you to compare 

it -- the same as 1-A?  

A. You say is it the same?  Yes.  

Q. Is the text the same as 1-C?  

A. No.  

Q. Okay.  Now, I'm going to retrieve Exhibit 2 

from the court reporter.  
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THE COURT REPORTER:  Do you want it to her?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Yes, please. 

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Now, this may be a little clunky because we 

may have to show it to opposing counsel so we can follow 

along and everything, but what I'm going to have you do 

is flip to the first signature page, the one that says I 

believe Jenny Wren on line one.  

A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  Do you recognize that?

A. Yes.  

Q. Did you put your mark on that petition?  

A. I did.  

Q. Did you deface it with an opprobrious 

comment?  

A. I did.  

Q. On which line?  

A. Line 24.  

Q. Okay.  Can you read for the board your 

opprobrious comment? 

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, we've had a 

little discussion about this, and I just want to 

express this caution.  The Ohio Revised Code 

instructs that a person may not affix any signature 

to a petition except their own signature and to do 
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otherwise it's a potential felony. 

MR. STEINHELFER:  I've had the opportunity to 

look into that as well, and it is very clear that 

it wasn't a signature and never intended to be one.  

MR. FANSLER:  Okay.  I just wanted that 

cautionary remark before we -- 

MR. STEINHELFER:  I do appreciate that.  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you.  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Can you read the opprobrious comment and 

nothing more?  

A. Fuck you bigots.  

Q. Okay.  And what date was that signed?  

A. 4/14/23.  

Q. What date did everybody else sign that?  

A. 4/14/23.  

Q. And what was the part petition affixed to 

that?  Was it 1-A, 1-B, 1-C, was it any of those?

A. 1-B.  

Q. Okay.  Now, I would like to ask you, looking 

at this 1-B, was it in this form when you defaced it with 

that comment?

A. Yes. 

Q. Did it -- so the city was blank?

A. Correct.  
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Q. And it didn't specify an election?  

A. Correct.  

Q. And it didn't specify any section of the 

Bellefontaine codified ordinances.  

A. Correct.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I have no further 

questions.

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Brown, questions of this 

witness?  

MR. BROWN:  Thank you.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. You just testified that there is a difference 

in the petition that you marked and the one in 1-C, 

correct?  

A. Correct. 

Q. Do you know why there was a difference?  

A. I do not know why.  

Q. And why did you write F-U bigots on the 

petition?  

A. Two reasons.  First off, that was my feelings 

towards the petition.  And, secondly, because I noticed 

the fact that it was not properly filled in, I knew that 

it was not a legally binding petition.  

Q. What do you mean -- what do you mean it was 
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not properly filled? 

A. For a petition to be circulated, the top 

portion needs to be filled out while people are signing 

it.  The top portion was not filled out, therefore it was 

not legal.  

Q. Can you be more specific?  I don't know what 

you mean by top portion.  Can you refer to an exhibit? 

A. 1-B.  

Q. You can't show it to me, you have to say it 

on the record.  

A. Exhibit 1-B. 

Q. Second page, right? 

A. Yes.  The top portion.  Where it says the -- 

all the blank spaces.  They weren't filled in. 

MR. BROWN:  Okay.  No more questions.  Thank 

you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, additional 

questions for this witness?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  

MS. CLARK:  I do have a question.  This is 

Kathryn Clark, a Board of Elections member.  

Do you know who was circulating the petition 

before you defaced it?

THE WITNESS:  I do not.  There was a large 

group there.  
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MS. CLARK:  Okay.  And when you say that -- 

that 1-B and 1-A are the same, is that true?  

THE WITNESS:  The only difference being that 

one is filled -- the wording on the text is 

correct, the only difference is that in one -- in 

Exhibit 1-A, the top portion is filled out and it 

has the received marked on it.  On 1-B, those two 

things are not there.  

MS. CLARK:  And was this a petition that was 

being circulated when you defaced it?  Was a 

petitioner there and you signed the petition?  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

MS. CLARK:  Thank you.  I have no further 

questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  In light of that, 

Mr. Steinhelfer, do you have additional questions?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I do.  

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Was there a table set up for the circulation 

of this?  I just want you to explain because -- so the 

board gets a full understanding of the circumstances 

during which you signed this.  

A. There was a table set up with multiple people 

around it.  
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Q. Where? 

A. By the courthouse by the fountain.  There 

was -- they had very big signs that said something along 

the lines save the children or something like that.  

Q. Okay.  Would it refresh your memory to look 

at the signature page that you defaced, flip it over, and 

then be able to answer Ms. Clark's question as to who 

circulated that?  

A. This says Danielle Stef -- Stefaniszyn?  

Q. Okay.  And she is one of the -- a member of 

the committee representing the petitioners, correct?

A. Yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Nothing further.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Brown?  

MR. BROWN:  Nothing.  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you.  Your next witness, 

Mr. Steinhelfer.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  The protestors rest.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Mr. Brown, would 

you like to make an opening statement or remark?  

MR. BROWN:  Yeah.  Can we take a brief 

recess?  

MR. FANSLER:  Yes.  

MR. BROWN:  Thank you.  We'll go off the 

record.  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

48

(Off the record.)

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  We're going to keep 

this moving along.  It's 10:00.  We took a brief 

recess.  We're back on the record.  Protestors have 

rested.  They have presented their case.  We're now 

over to the petitioners.  Mr. Brown, opening 

statement?  

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, board. 

MR. FANSLER:  Make sure you project your 

voice well enough to be heard well.  

MR. BROWN:  Thank you very much.  So, 

basically this case is very simple.  It comes down 

to the brief I gave you, which is the difference 

between creating a petition and handing it in and 

the actual preparation of that petition for the 

ballot.  So the Board of Elections, as we argued, 

did its job, and the protestor did not shown any 

facts yet that change that fact.  So, the evidence 

will show that it's part of the ballot process, and 

that's what you can expect.  Very simple.  Thank 

you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you.  Do you wish to call 

witnesses?  

MR. BROWN:  Yes, sir. 

THE COURT:  Call your first witness, please.  
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MR. BROWN:  I'll start with re-calling 

Victoria Maddox.  

THE COURT REPORTER:  Do you want her sworn 

again?  

MR. FANSLER:  Ms. Maddox, you've been sworn 

before.  That continues.  We will not re-swear you 

but your testimony will be under oath.  Thank you. 

VICTORIA MADDOX,

Having been previously duly sworn, testifies 

as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION  

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. You testified earlier you took the picture of 

the 1-B second page, right?  

A. Correct. 

Q. Did you take any pictures of any other 

petitions? 

A. No.  

Q. Did you see any others?  

A. No.  

MR. BROWN:  No more questions.  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, questions more 

of this witness?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Thank you.  
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MR. BROWN:  We call Barbra Gant back to the 

stand.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Ms. Gant, same 

thing is true.  We will not re-swear you.  You're 

still under oath as you testify.  

THE WITNESS:  Sure.  

BARBRA GANT,

Having been previously sworn, testifies as 

follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. Thank you for coming back.  Same to Victoria.  

Thank you for coming back up.  You have testified that 

there was a difference between Exhibit A-1 and 

Exhibit 1-C.  Do you recall that testimony?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Do you know why there's a difference? 

A. The difference is -- 

Q. I'm not asking you to identify the 

difference.  Do you know why there was a difference?  

A. Oh, why there's a difference?  No, I don't 

know why.  

MR. BROWN:  Okay.  No more questions.  Thank 

you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, questions?  
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MR. BROWN:  You've got to stay until he's -- 

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  

MR. FANSLER:  Ms. Gant, you're excused.  

Thank you.  Next witness, Mr. Brown?  

MR. BROWN:  All right.  Skate Buchanan.  

SKATE BUCHANAN,

Having been first duly sworn, as hereinafter 

certified, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. So what is your name? 

A. Skate Buchanan.  

Q. Can you spell that, please?  

A. S-K-A-T-E, B-U-C-H-A-N-A-N.

Q. And are you one of the protestors in this 

case?  I'm sorry, strike that.  Are you one of the 

petitioners in this case?

A. Yes.  

Q. And did you collect any petition signatures 

yourself?  

A. Yes.  

Q. And what was your role with the petitioners?  

A. We all -- there was six of us.  We as a group 

came together.  My role was just to help with some of the 

documentation, to go around and collect signatures.  I 
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also turned the final petition -- all the documents in to 

the city auditor.  

Q. Did you talk to the Board of Elections and 

ask for advice as you were engaging in the petition 

process?  

A. Yes, once.  It was way early on, but there 

were other people in our group that did.  

Q. Okay.  Did you take part in actually 

handing -- turning the petitions in to the city auditor's 

office --

A. Yes. 

Q. -- in Bellefontaine?

A. Yep.  

Q. You've got to wait until I'm done with the 

question.  

A. Okay.  

Q. And is it your understanding, once you have 

your petition signatures, what is the process from the 

petitioner's standpoint?  

A. Once we had our signatures, we counted -- put 

a count on the bottom or the back of the sheets.  We 

filled out the -- made sure everything was filled out.  

We actually -- I think we put the extra miles.  We 

printed off Chapter 1177 to ensure it was attached to 

every single sheet, so it was a massive file that we had.  
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And then we put it all together in one file, bundled it 

up, and took it to the mayor's office to present.  That 

is it. 

Q. When you say the mayor's office, did you mean 

the city auditor's office? 

A. Yeah.  I think his office -- that's where he 

was that morning.  That's where I went to, dropped it off 

there to his secretary.  He was in a meeting with 

somebody. 

Q. So you took it to the city auditor 

personally.  

A. Yes. 

Q. And were you the one who did that? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Was anybody with you?  

A. No.  

Q. Okay.  What happened when you handed it to 

him?  

A. He wasn't in the office.  I gave it to his 

secretary.  She just said okay.  I said this is a 

petition that we prepared. 

Q. What happened after that? 

A. I left.  

Q. And anything -- what happened in terms of -- 

what happened after that in terms of the petition?  
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A. We didn't really hear anything.  We were told 

by the Board of Elections no news is good news.  So we 

went along a couple weeks, and then we ended up reaching 

out -- we reached out to the Board of Elections.  We also 

reached out to many other folks, and they just said it 

was approved.  

Q. Okay.  Can you look at protestor's 

Exhibit 1-B -- I'm sorry, 1-A and 1-C.  

A. Okay.  

Q. And do you agree that there's a difference as 

the protestor witnesses have testified?  

A. You said 1-C?  

Q. Yeah.  

A. Yeah.  The difference is just the header 

added in the box.  

Q. And do you have any explanation for that?  

A. I actually typed this in the actual area.  

We -- the explanation is we basically finished 

everything.  We were actually curious and we were out 

collecting signatures.  We heard from a lot of people.  

We actually had a copy of Chapter 1177 with us that we 

presented to everybody when we gained signatures.  And 

people were -- so what we were kind of looking for is we 

weren't sure as how that was going to be represented in 

the ballot, so when we had this initial language, which 
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never changed, people weren't knowing that they were 

trying to amend what for a specific ordinance, so 

basically what happened is, we came down to the Board of 

Elections.  I believe Danielle and Devin got direction or 

seeked guidance on how do we clarify that is to be added 

and to make sure people know because we can't actually 

literally tab on the ballot Chapter 1177 onto the ballot.  

It's multiple pages.  You can't add it to the ballot. 

Q. So your understanding is the addition of that 

title was based on advice you got from the Board of 

Elections?  

A. Absolutely.  

MR. BROWN:  No more questions.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  I have a question, please.  

On Exhibit 1-B.  Excuse me.  Thank you.  Robert 

Fulton, member of the Board of Elections.  On 

Exhibit 1-B, the information that Ms. Maddox made a 

copy of, the information is not filled out at the 

top.  

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Was the information filled 

out on the top of all of the other petitions?  This 

is just one.  

THE WITNESS:  That's -- so this -- 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  There was multiple other 
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ones.  

THE WITNESS:  This is April -- is the one 

you're talking about April 14th?  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Right.  

THE WITNESS:  This isn't the actual finalized 

one that was turned in.  We were asked to turn in 

to the city auditor a formal petition of what the 

language would be so they would have it on file.  

We didn't turn it in until the end, which is 

July 28th when that was, which everything was 

filled out.  There was only one sheet that Fred 

had.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  When the petitioners signed 

the petitions, was the full information on the 

petitions that the petitioners signed -- excuse me.  

Not the petitioners but the voters of Logan County?  

When they signed on the petition, was all of the 

information correct and in its final form?  

THE WITNESS:  In its final form?  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Yeah.  

THE WITNESS:  You couldn't do it in its final 

form because you had to add numbers and counts to 

it once you obtained all the signatures. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Okay.  All right.  Thank 

you.  No more questions.  
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MS. CLARK:  I have a question.  When you 

circulated each and every petition --

THE WITNESS:  Uh-huh.  

MS. CLARK:  -- was the title on each and 

every petition when you circulated them, and was 

the top part, the part that says the city auditor, 

blah, blah, the blank part of it on the top of the 

page, was that information filled in as well as 

having the titles on each and every petition when 

you circulated them?  

THE WITNESS:  The top part, the portion we 

had this -- on every page, we didn't have -- we had 

the city on some filled out.  We didn't know 

that -- we thought it had to be at the end that you 

filled out everything 100 percent with the counts.  

That being said, we -- everybody knew what this was 

for because the actual Chapter 1177 had all the 

information in it and we briefed them on it, so -- 

MS. CLARK:  My question is, when you 

circulated each and every petition -- because 

there's several of them. 

THE WITNESS:  Yep.  

MS. CLARK:  Did you have on each and every 

petition the top part, the blanks and the title as 

well as the text on each and every petition?  
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THE WITNESS:  I would say not each and every 

petition, no.  

MS. CLARK:  Thank you. 

THE WITNESS:  Can I ask a question back?  

When you say title, what do you mean by title?  

MS. CLARK:  I'm talking about the part that 

says proposal to amend city of Bellefontaine 

codified ordinance Chapter 1117 on adult 

entertainment 1117.02 definition by adding the 

following text.  Did you have that on each and 

every petition when you circulated it?  

THE WITNESS:  No, we did not.  

MS. CLARK:  Thank you.  

MR. BROWN:  I have no questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Additional questions?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I didn't get my turn.  

MR. FANSLER:  Wait.  We're still on direct 

examination. 

MR. BROWN:  It is his turn.  Go ahead.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Mr. Steinhelfer.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. STEINHELFER:  

Q. Sir, to follow up on Ms. Clark's question, 

the text proposal to amend city of Bellefontaine codified 

ordinance Chapter 1177 adult entertainment 1177.02 
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definition by adding the following text, isn't it true 

that that was not on any of the part petitions that the 

voters signed? 

A. True.  

Q. And you were the drafter of that, correct --

A. Correct. 

Q. -- as you testified?  Do you recall when you 

drafted that text?  

A. That addition, we came to the Board of 

Elections.  We had directions to add that -- 

Q. No, no, no.

A. It was on the 23rd.  

Q. Sir, I need you to listen carefully to the 

question.  When I ask when, it's calling for a date, not 

an explanation, okay?  Do you recall when you drafted it?  

A. I think it was the 22nd or 23rd of July.  

Q. Thank you.  And were you in Logan County, 

Ohio when you did it?  

A. Yeah.  

Q. Okay.  And did you do it on a laptop 

computer?  

A. I did it on a computer.  

Q. Okay.  And you did it on purpose.  

A. On purpose?  

Q. Yeah.  It wasn't an accident?  You did it on 
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purpose.  

A. I did it at somebody else's direction.  

Q. You did it willingly.  

A. Yeah.  On somebody else's direction, yes.  

Q. Okay.  Just the question I asked you.  That's 

it.  What relationship, if any, do you have to Danielle 

Stefaniszyn?  

A. She's my wife.  

Q. Okay.  And is the testimony of Ms. Maddox 

that Ms. Stefaniszyn circulated the part petition that 

has been identified as Exhibit 1-B, do you know whether 

that is correct?  

A. Yeah, I think so.  That's correct. 

Q. Okay.  And just to clarify, several of the 

part petitions signed by the voters did not have the city 

filled out when the voters signed them? 

A. I don't know.  There's only one at the table.  

Q. Okay.  

MR. FANSLER:  Excuse me.  I didn't hear that 

answer.  What did you say?  

THE WITNESS:  I said I don't know.  There was 

only one at the table. 

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Okay.  There was only one at the table on 

April 14th is what you mean, right?  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

61

A. Yeah, one petition sheet.  

Q. I thought you testified earlier that some of 

them had that filled out, some of them didn't.  

A. Yeah.  We petitioned over weeks and weeks.  

That particular day, I believe there was one sheet, and 

next to it was a copy of Chapter 1177 spread out so we 

could explain that to each person individually.  

Q. Okay.  And you -- you did that because you 

thought that that can just be filled out in the end, 

right?  

A. What do you mean?  

Q. The city, this top part.  

A. Yes.  We -- there's no -- we couldn't find 

anything specifically in the handbook we were given.  

Q. Okay.  

A. I think we were given from the Board of 

Elections.  There's nothing in there specifically.  I 

believe the city auditor said it didn't matter, so we 

left it blank as it was.  

Q. Okay.  I'll have you look at my Exhibit 1-A.  

Did you file this what I call the pre-circulation 

petition with the city auditor?  

A. Exhibit A?  No, I did not.  

Q. Okay.  Do you know who did?  

A. I believe that was Danielle. 
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Q. Okay.  

A. And one of our other assistants. 

Q. Indicated that that was filed on April 14th.  

Do you know whether that's correct?  

A. Sounds right, yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  I have no further 

questions. 

MS. CLARK:  I have one question.  Catherine 

Clark.  A span, can you tell me the span of days 

when you started circulating the petitions and when 

you finished circulating the petitions?  

THE WITNESS:  I think it was March we 

started -- we got the idea, started drafting it and 

reaching out to people to understand.  We didn't 

really -- we weren't experts on petitions, so we 

were reaching out to everybody to understand the 

process, and I think that went all the way up to 

the first or second week of July.

MS. CLARK:  I'm asking when did you 

circulate, not when you started drafting it.  When 

did you start circulating the petition and when did 

you end circulating the petition?

THE WITNESS:  It was late April I think when 

we actually started actually trying to gather -- 

MS. CLARK:  And when did that circulation 
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end?  

THE WITNESS:  July -- I think it was like the 

second week of July.  We ran -- we would go door to 

door after work individually one of us here or 

there.  There was no like group effort.  We just -- 

sometimes we would have a group effort to get 

people or some just one or two of us after work 

walking the street.  

MS. CLARK:  My question is, did circulating 

end prior to July 22nd and 23rd?  

THE WITNESS:  We stopped trying to get 

signatures before July 22nd, yes.  

MS. CLARK:  Before July 22nd?  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

MS. CLARK:  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  An additional question.  

Rob Fulton, member of the Board of Elections.  You 

filed -- or Exhibit A was filed with the city 

auditor on April 14th.  

THE WITNESS:  Uh-huh. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Is that correct?  

THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  The petition that Victoria 

Maddox put her comments on was also signed by a 

number of petitioners on April 14th.  
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THE WITNESS:  Okay.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  You began circulating the 

petitions the day that it was filed with the city 

auditor?  

THE WITNESS:  If I have it correct -- I 

didn't turn this in, but I believe it was turned in 

like really early in the morning, like 8:00 or 9:00 

a.m. and then we didn't actually seek until 5:00 or 

5:30 in the afternoon in front of the courthouse.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Thank you very much.  No 

further questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Okay.  Further questions of 

this witness?  

MR. BROWN:  Yeah, one more.  Maybe a few 

more.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. Look at Exhibit 1-A or A-1.  Can you read the 

first sentence of the petition language?  

A. The classification of drag artist and shows 

as adult cabaret performance.  

Q. Does that strike you as being a title?  Did 

you intend for that to be the title?  

A. That is the title.  That's how we thought it 

would be.  That would be the title, yeah.  
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MR. BROWN:  No more questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, additional 

questions?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Just one.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. STEINHELFER:  

Q. You personally filed the completed 

signatures -- or petitions, I'm sorry -- with the city 

auditor?  

A. Correct.  

Q. And you did so on July 24th?  

A. Yeah, I believe it was July 24th at 8:00 

a.m., something like that.  

Q. I'm sorry, I said one but it's going to be 

three.  I'll have you look at my 1-C.  

MR. BROWN:  What you did you say?  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. My 1-C.  Was that attached to each and every 

one of the part petitions filed with the Bellefontaine 

City Auditor on July 24th of this year? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And are you the person who took the staples 

out and stapled this text to the signature pages?  

A. There was no staples used.  

Q. How were they affixed? 
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A. We paper clipped each sheet individually and 

then in stacks.  So we -- each ordinance had a paperclip 

around it, then we took this and paper clipped it to 

that, and we actually took the proposal and paper clipped 

it to that.  Hundreds of pages. 

Q. When you say "we", who removed the 

paperclips, put this text on, and then paper clipped it 

back together?  Who did that? 

A. We didn't remove it.  I would assume it would 

be the city auditor.  

Q. No, no, no, no.  You testify earlier that no 

one signed 1-C, correct?  Nobody signed a petition 

containing this language proposal to amend city of the 

Bellefontaine codified ordinance Chapter 1177 adult 

entertainment 1177.02 definition by adding the following 

text.  You testified that nobody signed a petition 

containing that language, correct?  

A. The adding of this header, no.  

Q. Okay.  How did that come to be affixed to the 

signature page?  Do you understand what I mean by 

signature pages? 

A. Yes.  

Q. I can show you.  

A. Sure. 

Q. How did this come to be affixed to it?  
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Stapled? 

A. With a paper clip.  

Q. Okay.  And who did that?  

A. Me and my three other people that we -- 

Q. Who were the three other people?  

A. Actually, I think it was just Danielle.  

Q. You and your wife did that.  

A. Yep.  

Q. On what date did you do that?  

A. It was the 22nd or 23rd.  Right before we 

handed it in.  

Q. You drafted it the 22nd and turned it in the 

24th.  It was sometime in that range, correct? 

A. Yes, correct. 

Q. So that would have required removing the text 

that the voters signed and affixing what is our 1-C to 

the signature pages; is that correct?  

A. We just -- I think -- I believe this is a 

separate sheet.  

Q. Yeah.  That's what I'm saying.  

A. Yes.  We just -- we basically -- because the 

top part we had, we filled that out and we just added the 

new sheet.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's 

all.  
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MR. FANSLER:  Further questions of this 

witness?  

MR. BROWN:  Yeah.

FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. The action you just described in your 

cross-examination, were you doing that on somebody's 

advice?

A. Yes.  

Q. Whose advice?  

A. Information we got from the Board of 

Elections.  

Q. Anybody in particular?  

A. I wasn't there but I know she talked to Adam.  

Q. Brannon?  

A. Adam Brannon.  

MR. BROWN:  No more questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  This witness is 

excused.  Next witness.  

MR. BROWN:  Devin Palmer. 

DEVIN PALMER,

Having been first duly sworn, as hereinafter 

certified, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN:
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Q. Tell us your name.  

A. Devin Palmer.  

Q. How do you spell that? 

A. D-E-V-I-N, P-A-L-M-E-R. 

Q. Are you one of the petitioners in this case? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And were you involved in the early process of 

preparing the petition for circulation? 

A. That's correct.  

Q. Okay.  What was your role?  

A. My initial role was getting people on board 

with this initiative, and then -- 

MS. CLARK:  Can I ask that you speak up a 

little bit, please?  

THE WITNESS:  Sure.  My initial role was 

gathering people to get on board with this 

initiative, and after coming to the determination 

that we would need to as citizens make our voices 

heard, we opted to propose an initiative petition 

or proposed ordinance amending Chapter 1177.02(e), 

in which point I was one of the six circulators of 

said petition.  

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. And were you part of the process when the 

petition was handed in to the city auditor?  
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A. Skate handed that in but we had meetings 

often, the six of us, discussing our progress made, if we 

needed more signatures, and, you know, when we should 

turn it in. 

Q. Did you meet with the Board of Elections for 

advice through the process of going through this 

initiative petition? 

A. I did on one occasion.  That was one of 

several occasions members of our group had made multiple 

contacts not just to the city auditor but to the Board of 

Elections to ensure our compliance.  The last meeting 

that Danielle had -- well, meeting -- we stopped in and 

talk to people at the Board of Elections.  It usually was 

Adam, Mr. Brannon.  The last time that we stopped in, I 

attended, I came with Danielle, and Mr. Brannon was 

there.  This was -- 

Q. Was that the July?

A. This was July -- yes.  This was July 20th or 

21st on or about.  About 1:05 p.m., Danielle and I came 

to Mr. Brannon.  We asked a very specific question.  That 

question was how do we attached the codified ordinances, 

Chapter 1177.02 E to our petition.  Very specific 

question.  We explained that the Secretary of State 

handbook was rather ambiguous on this point.  Certainly 

everybody that signed the petition knew that that was the 
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whole purpose of this petition as a full copy and text of 

Chapter 1177.02 Section E was filed with the auditor on 

the same date the petition language was handed in.  

Mr. Brentlinger could affirm to that.  That language was 

at all times circulated with the proposed petition 

language and then so, therefore, at this meeting -- well, 

rather impromptu meeting, I guess, with Mr. Brannon, we 

asked how might we attach this to the proposed petition 

language.  He said you can just -- you can just write it 

at the top.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Objection.  Hearsay and 

relevancy.  Their entire case is based on hearsay 

that is really not relevant even if determined to 

be true.  It's entirely irrelevant to the case.  

MR. BROWN:  It's not hearsay.  

MR. FANSLER:  First of all -- 

MR. BROWN:  I need to respond to the 

objection on the record.  

MR. FANSLER:  Wait a minute.  We are not 

bound by the court rules of evidence.  We are not 

excluding hearsay.  We will -- we understand the 

inherent inaccuracies that are with hearsay.  We'll 

take that into consideration.  In the interest of 

full disclosure, we're going to let in everything 

that's not offensive to be let in, including that 
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statement.  We recognize that it may be hearsay.  

MR. BROWN:  All right.  Just a statement for 

the record, if you don't mind.  In an 

administrative hearing you are allowed to admit 

hearsay and consider it in terms of its credibility 

rather than admissibility, but I do need to reserve 

my response to the objection on the record as there 

is an objection for the record.  

MR. FANSLER:  I understand that. 

MR. BROWN:  The witness who spoke the words 

is here and available for testimony and 

cross-examination; therefore, categorically it is 

not hearsay.  All right.  

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. Go ahead and pick up where you left off.

A. May I continue?  So, Danielle, she had the 

actual petition sheet which looks like Mr. Steinhelfer's 

1-B in which she wrote with her pen at the top like this 

(indicating), and Adam motioned, that's fine.  And so it 

was our interpretation of this conversation that the 

header be added at the direction of the authority, which 

we took to be Mr. Brannon, of the Board of Elections.  

Further, I don't think it's hearsay because there is a 

camera -- there's a camera at the south side of the room, 

and during that time there was voting.  There was active 
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voting for the August 1st election.  I do hope that 

camera was rolling and I hope it has audio because I feel 

it would be wise to pull that feed.  

Q. Okay.  And what did Mr. Brannon tell you in 

that visit?  

A. Basically it was pretty short with it.  He 

may have said something to the effect of the displayed 

format on the ballot, how voters would see it, the 

displayed format on the ballot and therefore we thought 

the advice was sound as certainly everybody knew 

throughout the circulation and from the beginning of this 

what the actual text and title of the language was, so we 

took his advisement as sound, and we added the header to 

the top.  

MR. BROWN:  Okay.  No more questions.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Steinhelfer, questions?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  

MR. FANSLER:  This witness is concluded.  

Thank you.  Mr. Brown, additional witnesses?  

MR. BROWN:  Yes, sir.  

MR. FANSLER:  Again, we're off the record.  

These comments are not part of the record.  Counsel 

are conferring.  

MR. BROWN:  Board, I call Danielle 

Stefaniszyn.  We'll spell her name. 
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DANIELLE STEFANISZYN,

Having been first duly sworn, as hereinafter 

certified, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROWN:

Q. State your name, please.  

A. Sure.  Danielle Stefaniszyn.  Spelled 

D-A-N-I-E-L-L-E, S-T-E-F-A-N-I-S-Z-Y-N.  

Q. Catch it?  Are you one of the petitioners in 

this case?  

A. I am.  

Q. And were you involved in the original 

origination process of this petition in question here 

today?  

A. I was.  

Q. Okay.  What was your role in the beginning?  

A. As part of the circulators of this initiative 

petition to get it on the November ballot.  

Q. I'm sorry, what was that? 

A. To be one of the circulators of this petition 

to get it on the November ballot.  

Q. Were you involved in the original drafting or 

creation of the paper petitions themselves? 

A. I was. 

Q. What was your role in terms of that? 
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A. To oversee, to ensure by, you know, asking 

any questions that need to be.  I would draft questions 

or have questions, seek guidance from the Board of 

Elections, come in and have multiple conversations, and 

just to relay that information to what we were doing in 

the process of doing this petition.  

Q. Okay.  And were you involved in the ending 

process of actually turning the petitions in to the city 

auditor? 

A. I was. 

Q. What was your role?  

A. My role was to put everything together in the 

appropriate manner so that we could file it with the city 

auditor in the time before it needed to be handed or 

submitted in to the Board of Elections.  

Q. Were you only person in that role or were 

there other people doing that with you?

A. My husband was also involved in that role and 

then a few others of the committee, but really everything 

was at our -- within our -- I guess our hands at that 

time, yes.  

Q. Is your husband the Skate that testified 

previously?

A. Yes, he is.  

Q. And were you a party to the July 21st -- the 
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testimony is either July 20th or July 21st meeting at the 

Board of Elections?  

A. I was, yes.  

Q. Okay.  Did you listen to the testimony of 

Devin Palmer before you came up? 

A. I did, yes. 

Q. Is there any inaccuracy or anything you think 

should be corrected or changed? 

A. No.  

Q. Can you tell me your recollection of that 

meeting? 

A. Sure.  So Devin and I came in to the Board of 

Elections because we were getting ready to finalize 

before we were getting ready to submit to the city 

auditor, and we wanted to just clear up any clarification 

of any questions that we had.  So, we came in together.  

And had the paper in front of us and, again, asked Adam 

for his time as he had been helping us through this whole 

process -- or giving us guidance and assisting us through 

this -- and specifically asked him, you know, how do we 

attach Chapter 1177 to this?  And under his direction and 

guidance he said, you know, you could add the proposal to 

amend, and so I wrote that and I said, Like this?  And he 

goes, That should be fine.  And so, we -- I did that 

under his direction and then we went about our way.  
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Q. Just a second.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  May I ask a question?  

MR. BROWN:  I'm in the middle of mine. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  I'm sorry, I thought you 

were finished.  

MR. BROWN:  I just need a moment to review my 

notes.  Okay.  I'm done.  Thank you.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Thank you.  All right.  

Question for you, please.  You said you felt the 

need to add that language and asked Adam for advice 

how to do that. 

THE WITNESS:  No.  We were going in to just 

seek guidance to see if there was anything 

additional that we needed in order to file the 

paperwork.  As Devin had stated, the Secretary of 

State handbook is very vague in terms of explicitly 

defining how to submit items, so under the guidance 

of the Board of Elections, who we had been working 

with, we wanted to finalize any additional 

questions that we may have in order to -- prior to 

submitting the final copies to the city auditor.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Okay.  I guess my question 

is, did Mr. Brannon tell you to add this language?  

THE WITNESS:  He recommended we add that 

language under --
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CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Let me finish the question, 

please. 

THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Did Mr. Brannon tell you to 

add this language or did you ask him for advice on 

how to add this language?  

THE WITNESS:  We asked how do we attach 

Chapter 1177 to the ballot, and he -- he advised us 

that we needed to add to amend or propose what we 

were trying to do and to add that at the top in the 

box.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Thank you very much.  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

MR. FANSLER:  I think the court reporter 

might have already made this notation, but just for 

the record, Robert Fulton asked the last two 

questions.  So just for clarification to the 

record, those two recent questions were asked by 

board member Robert Fulton.  Mr. Steinhelfer, you 

have additional questions?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Yes.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Ma'am, I'm going to direct your attention to 

my 1-C.  Are you there? 
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A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  No one signed this, correct?  

A. What do you mean?  

Q. No one signed this petition language; is that 

correct? 

A. This is a cover page.  

Q. Did anyone sign a petition containing this 

language?  

A. Well, it's a cover page, so there wouldn't be 

any signatures on the back of it.  

Q. Listen to the question, please.  Did anyone 

sign a petition -- did any voter sign a petition 

containing this exact language?  

A. The classification of drag artist, that title 

and text was included.  

Q. No, no, no.  Proposal to amend city of the 

Bellefontaine codified ordinance Chapter 1177 adult 

entertainment 1177.02 definition by adding the following 

text.  Do you see that?  

A. I do.  

Q. Did I read it correctly?

A. You did.  

Q. The question is, did anyone -- any voter sign 

a petition containing that language, yes or no? 

A. That header was added --
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Q. Yes or no.  

MR. BROWN:  The witness can answer how she 

wants.  

MR. FANSLER:  She can answer the question.  

MR. BROWN:  Doesn't work that way. 

THE WITNESS:  The title -- the header that 

was added at the direction of the Board of 

Elections was added upon final completion of the 

cover page that was submitted to the city auditor.  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. Did any voter sign a petition containing the 

language that I just read?  

A. The actual cover page -- 

Q. I'm going to ask it until you answer the 

question.  

A. I am answering your question.  You're not 

accepting the answer, that is why you keep pushing.  

MR. FANSLER:  I don't think there is any 

question what the question is or what her answer is 

and I don't think there is any question the 

disconnect there.  We understand what was just 

said.  We get your point, Mr. Steinhelfer.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Okay.  

BY MR. STEINHELFER:

Q. You were involved in the preparation of this 
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language that I just read?  

A. Yes. 

Q. And that happened between July 22nd 

July 24th; is that correct?  

A. Correct.  

Q. In Logan County, Ohio?  

A. Yes. 

Q. And you did it intentionally? 

A. Under the guidance of the Board of Elections.  

Q. Okay.  It wasn't an accident?  

A. Under the guidance of the Board of Elections, 

no.  

Q. No.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Nothing further.  

MR. BROWN:  No questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you for appearing.  

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Next witness.  

MR. BROWN:  No more witnesses, no more 

questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Mr. Steinhelfer, do 

you wish to introduce any exhibits?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Yes.  We would introduce 

all of our exhibits. 

THE COURT:  Mr. Steinhelfer, I don't think 
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there's been any testimony on anything except -- go 

ahead.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Well, if I may?  

MR. FANSLER:  Go ahead.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Exhibits 3 through 10 are 

statutes and citations that are provided as 

courtesy copies for your consideration.  Whether 

you consider them to be actual evidence or not is 

up to you to deal with properly, and so -- 

MR. FANSLER:  Okay.  

MR. BROWN:  As long as -- 

MR. FANSLER:  I think there's only been 

testimony about Exhibit 1, Exhibit 1-A, Exhibit 

1-B, and Exhibit 1-C.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  1-G.  

MR. BROWN:  As long as he testifies they're 

true and accurate, I will proceed and stipulate 

that they're self-authenticating.  

MR. FANSLER:  Exhibit 1, Exhibit 1-A, Exhibit 

1-B, Exhibit 1-C, and Exhibit 1-D have all had 

testimony.  Mr. Steinhelfer, you introduce more?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  1-G. 

MR. FANSLER:  1-G.  I would agree with that.  

Anything else?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  2.  The court reporter has 
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it.  

MR. FANSLER:  Sure.  Exhibit 2.  So the 

packet we received 1, 1-A, 1-B, 1-C, 1-D, 1-G and 

then Exhibit 2.  Mr. Brown, with those cautionary 

remarks, you have no objection to those.  

MR. BROWN:  No objection.  

(Protestors' Exhibits 1, 1-A, 1-B, 1-C, 1-D, 1-G and 2 

admitted.) 

MR. FANSLER:  So those will be admitted as an 

exhibit.  The others will be thankfully accepted as 

reference but not exhibits in the classic sense.  

All right.  I don't believe you had any exhibits 

you introduced, Mr. Brown; is that correct?  

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.  

MR. FANSLER:  Mr. Steinhelfer, you wish to 

make a closing statement? 

MS. CLARK:  Before we make any closing 

statements, I would just like to see if we could 

ask Adam Brannon one more question.  Do we call him 

as a witness?  

MR. FANSLER:  Sure.  For the record, Kathryn 

Clark is speaking and made that request and is now 

going to ask questions of Mr. Brannon.  Mr. Brannon 

you're still under oath.  

THE WITNESS:  (Nods head). 
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ADAM BRANNON,

Having been previously duly sworn, testifies 

as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MS. CLARK:  

Q. Thank you.  We heard the testimony of the 

petitioners that circulated the petitions and that 

they -- some of them came to you in July to ask the 

opinion of either you or Ms. Horton regarding the 

petitions.  Can you explain what exactly you told them 

that day?  

A. Well, like I said, my memory of exact 

conversation, I don't -- I don't have the full 

recollection.  I remember we -- as Ms. Palmer noted, we 

were doing absentee voting at that time.  We pulled them 

to the side of our front counter and I stood there and 

spoke with them.  I remember there being -- you know, we 

were talking about this initiative, the issue of -- I did 

not remember them not -- I didn't remember that this 1-C 

was not what they had.  I didn't remember them having 1-A 

as what they brought to me at that point.  So, I -- to be 

honest with you, I can't recall more than that to say 

that.  I know we were talking about the petition.  I know 

we -- we spoke about, you know, what's the final steps 

for submission.  I remember talking about it needs to go 
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to the city auditor; it doesn't come to us because it has 

to go there to start that.  But as far as what exactly 

adding any information, how to attach it, I don't recall 

that.  I do not.

Q. As your -- as your position as deputy 

director or director, do you ever tell petitioners what 

is flawed, may be flawed on a petition or what may be 

correct on a petition?  

A. Unless it is specifically asked, like for 

instance with -- you know, if they had come to me with 

the two the city auditor of the city of Bellefontaine, if 

that had been blank and they had asked about that, but to 

just do a general review, that's not -- that's not been 

our policy.  That's not what we've done.  

MS. CLARK:  Thank you.  I have no further 

questions.  

MR. FANSLER:  In light of that, questions 

from Mr. Brown, Mr. Steinhelfer?  

MR. STEINHELFER:  No.  

MR. BROWN:  (Shakes head).  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you, Mr. Brannon.  I 

believe you've closed -- you've rested.  

MR. BROWN:  Yes.  

MR. FANSLER:  Okay.  So we are ready for 

whatever closing statements you wish to make.  
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Mr. Steinhelfer, you are first.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Are you sure I'm first?  

MR. FANSLER:  Yes.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Okay.  All right.  This 

really isn't rocket science.  The law requires that 

a -- before circulating a petition they file a 

certified copy with the city auditor.  You've heard 

testimony here today, the direct testimony of my 

witnesses was straightforward:  Yes, no, I don't 

remember.  They were not evasive.  Did not try to 

dodge anybody's questions regardless of who was 

asking it.  After that's filed with the city 

auditor, it can't be changed.  

And you heard the testimony of Barbra Gant 

that she made a public records request.  That is 

our 1-C.  We have that -- I'm sorry, our 1-A.  This 

is what she received in response and that is 

included in the files of the Board of Elections, I 

believe.  This is the petition that some people 

signed.  You've heard the testimony of Skate 

Buchanan that some of the petitions didn't even 

contain the name of the municipality when they were 

signed, and we don't know how many of those or 

whether it would meet the requisite number of 

signatories even if you invalidated part petitions, 
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but we have the direct testimony and admission that 

some of those did not even put the voters on notice 

as to the municipality.  And now they say, well, 

everyone knew what this was about or perhaps people 

that signed this would have signed 1-C anyway.  

Well, none of that makes any difference because 

they didn't.  No one signed 1-C.  That is what they 

submitted to the city auditor for placement on the 

ballot, and it is substantively different than that 

which they filed pre-circulation.  That's fatal to 

their case for the reasons we set forth in the 

protest, and there are two cases on point that are 

included as Exhibit 8 and 9. 

MR. BROWN:  I do want to object because those 

were not briefed and so I had no opportunity to 

prepare a response -- 

MR. STEINHELFER:  It's the law and he's going 

to ask you to ignore the law, which doesn't 

surprise me, but it's the law.  

MR. BROWN:  I just want to state that for the 

record.  They can sustain or -- these were not 

briefed cases. 

MR. STEINHELFER:  Well, one of them was.  One 

of them was explicitly referred to and that's the 

Esch case.  Then this number nine was just you 
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Shepardize it, you know, they followed the Esch 

case, so they quoted it.  

MR. FANSLER:  Let me respond to that.  At the 

close of a case, any person at any time is allowed 

to cite to any authority.  It seems advantageous to 

put your best foot forward in your very first 

pitch, use all the authority that you have, but 

you're never prohibited from pointing out to a 

judge or to a court this is the controlling law 

even if you made no previous reference.  So we will 

consider anything that directs us toward what 

either of you think is controlling law.  

MR. BROWN:  My objection is more for the 

record and it is -- 

MR. FANSLER:  Absolutely.  We note your 

objection.  Mr. Steinhelfer, you may continue with 

your closing remarks.  

MR. STEINHELFER:  Thank you.  In the Esch 

case, our Supreme Court decided that because a -- 

there was not a complete title and text of a 

proposed initiative, under the statute that applies 

in this case to non-chartered municipalities, that 

was a fatal error prohibiting that measure from 

being placed on the ballot.  Our state Supreme 

Court followed that precedent ten years later in 
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State ex rel Becker versus City of East Lake.  

Now, I want to explain to you why all of this 

testimony about Ms. Brannon is entirely irrelevant, 

and this has to do with this last case we cite here 

in number ten in State ex rel Schmitt versus 

Bridgeport.  What happened there -- and this deals 

with a village rather than a city, but it's the 

very same statute -- the village official 

misdirected this guy left and right, pretty much 

preventing him from filing it with the village 

clerk -- in a village you have to file it with the 

village clerk.  If it's a city like here, you have 

to file it with the city auditor.  And the Supreme 

Court nonetheless decided that that didn't matter, 

it could not be placed on the ballot.  

If you look at paragraph 19, they say Schmitt 

had an obligation to file the petition with the 

proper official and he has not established that he 

has satisfied that obligation.  And that involved 

elected official really intentionally misdirecting 

that guy left and right.  We can see that in the 

Supreme Court's opinion.  There's been no evidence 

here today that Mr. Brannon has intentionally 

misdirected people.  I think that the testimony -- 

and you can judge it for yourself -- of the 
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petitioners was, with the exception of 

Mr. Buchanan, rather evasive and lacked 

credibility.  But if the petition that was filed 

pre-circulation is not the same as what they filed 

for placement on the ballot, then their case fails 

and you can't place it on the ballot.  

We found out something even worse happened in 

that they didn't even fill out the part notifying 

the voters as to the municipality, and that they -- 

and that no one -- no voter at all -- signed the 

petition that they seek to place on the ballot here 

today.  You know, on July 4th of 1776 a lot of wise 

men from 13 colonies assembled to sign a document 

that if it failed would be their death warrant and 

if it succeeded would give birth to the greatest 

nation this world has ever seen.  It was suggested 

on that day at that convention that a motto be 

adopt for that nation:  E Pluribus Unum; out of 

many, one.  And that remains the official motto of 

this great nation today.  

You know, when our founding fathers drafted 

the Bill of Rights over a decade later, they got it 

right.  So when we're faced with trying times and 

tough questions, I always like to look to our 

Constitution for guidance.  We live in a society as 
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Americans where we don't regulate what people can 

say, where they can worship, or even how they can 

dress.  We're freedom loving people, and I say 

eight people -- because even though that eagle has 

two wings, a left one and a right one, I still 

believe in that motto:  E pluribus unum; out of 

many, one.  The petitioners have violated the law.  

Their noncompliance is egregious as demonstrated by 

the evidence here today.  The board has clearly a 

duty under the precedent cited by us to sustain 

this protest and not place this measure on the 

November ballot.  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  Thank you, Mr. Steinhelfer for 

your closing remarks.  Mr. Brown.  

MR. BROWN:  Thank you.  So this is a very 

simple issue.  I agree with that.  But there is a 

distinction between petition process and ballot 

prep process.  The law only forbids you from 

amending a petition, but the ballot there are 

amendments that happen between that petition and 

the ballot.  We all know that.  So, in placing the 

proper title according to the code, 3505.06(E), it 

is the Board of Elections' responsibility to place 

the title on the ballot, which is an amendment to 

the language that's on the petition.  In this case, 
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the petitioners placed the title on the ballot 

specifically at the direction of the Board of 

Elections, and thus it's consistent with the 

requirement that the Board of Elections has under 

3505.06(E).  The Board of Elections didn't amend 

that title.  The Board of Elections did not amend 

that title.  They used that title and that title 

was put on there at the direction of the Board of 

Elections.  

Further, I would take note that the actual 

original petition language had a title.  There's no 

rule that says the title has to be set apart, that 

it has to be in bold, or anything like that.  The 

first sentence of the petition language is clearly 

a title.  So it's circulated with the title.  It 

was submitted with a title.  The Board of Elections 

directed that a title be added consistent with 

their duties under the code, which is a separate 

category, ballot preparation category.  

Okay.  Now, the Esch case, which is the one 

that counsel cited, in that case there was no title 

at all.  So the case just simply is inapplicable.  

We don't have a situation here where there was no 

title at all.  There was a title on the submitted 

petition.  Board of Elections added a title under 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

93

its responsibilities.  

Of course, he appeals to the Constitution.  I 

have a whole section in my brief about the 

Constitution and the sacred right to do the 

initiative, and that's the Ohio Constitution.  So, 

great men in 1803 as well put together an Ohio 

Constitution based on the Northwest Ordinance, 

which was amended in 1914 by some great men, like 

Teddy Roosevelt was part of that process.  And so 

your Constitutional duty here is to err on the side 

of the petitioners exercising their Constitutional 

rights.  Thank you.  

MR. FANSLER:  All right.  Thank you.  So, we 

are going to do further consideration.  Our 

decision will be announced in a public meeting.  We 

actually had a meeting that started before this at 

8:30 this morning to consider other business in the 

Board of Elections.  We have additional work to do.  

We are going to -- drawing a blank.  Not adjourn.  

Recess.  We're going to recess this meeting.  We're 

going to reconvene our Board of Elections meeting.  

You know the amount of space we have back here and 

out front.  It is possible that after that meeting 

we will be in a position to issue a decision.  If 

not, by the end of that time we will announce the 
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time that we will announce our decision in a public 

meeting.  

You're all welcome to wait somewhere, but not 

here, which is where our meeting is going to be.  

But, listen, thank you all.  This was a show of 

civility, a show of maturity, a show of public 

spiritedness.  Thank you.  The issues are heated.  

The sides are contested.  You've shown great 

responsibility and civility today.  Thank you very 

much.  So that will conclude this portion of the 

meeting.  We are in recess.  Counsel, thank you 

both for the presentations made.  Witnesses, thank 

you for your appearance.  And public, thank you. 

-----

(Meeting adjourned at 10:57 a.m. and resumed at 11:34 

a.m.)

MR. FANSLER:  I would like to make a motion 

that we authorize a transcript.  Almost certainly 

we ought to have it.  I think we need to take 

action before we can have that done.  So I would 

like to make that motion.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  It's been moved -- 

MS. HORTON:  Can you say that again?  

MR. FANSLER:  That we have a transcript made 

of the proceedings and have a paper copy.  
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MS. CLARK:  And I second that motion.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Moved and seconded that a 

transcript be created of the hearing.  All in 

favor, say aye.  

(All say aye.) 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Opposed?  So ordered.  Is 

anyone ready to vote or shall we wait until another 

date, come back together?  

MS. CLARK:  I think that I -- just me -- I 

think that I've heard enough information that I can 

vote today.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Okay.  Are you ready to 

vote?  Are you putting a motion on the floor?  

MS. CLARK:  I am putting a motion on the 

floor to vote yay or nay on the motion to the 

protest.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  The motion needs to be to 

approve -- 

MS. CLARK:  I move to sustain the protest.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Is there a second?  I'll 

second the motion.  All in favor, say aye.  

MS. CLARK:  Aye.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Now, wait a minute.  Are we 

voting on -- further discussion?  

MR. FANSLER:  I would like to have further 
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discussion.  I continue to say that after review of 

the cited cases by both sides and review of the 

Supreme Court and a lack of clear direction -- one 

thing that appeared clear to me is that people knew 

what they were voting on and that it would be 

almost impossible to think that a single person 

signed that petition that didn't clearly know what 

they were voting -- or signing a petition on.  And, 

again, what the Supreme Court cases told -- they 

did not attach a Supreme Court case that says the 

reference to the specific section does not have to 

be attached.  I would rather err on the side of 

letting the voters decide.  

MS. CLARK:  And I am -- I understand that the 

Supreme Court has not given us guidance both ways, 

but I still maintain that from what testimony 

evidence that I saw and heard that I don't know 

that the -- that the voters that signed the 

petitions actually knew what they were signing -- 

MR. LENTZ:  Victoria Maddox -- 

MS. CLARK:  -- because the title wasn't on -- 

the title was not on -- we heard the testimony that 

the title was not on each and every petition.  In 

fact, he said it was not on any of the petitions 

that were circulated, so that's my -- that's why 
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I'm saying that I'm not certain they did know what 

they were signing. 

MR. FANSLER:  The only thing I would add to 

what I said previously was that I think we are 

statutorily required to take the attitude that 

every petition is valid and every signature is 

valid until proven otherwise.  And I think, again, 

what Ranae just said is a key point.  For Victoria 

Maddox to have signed what she said and then to 

have elaborated to say that is what I thought about 

the whole thing, even the opponent knew exactly 

what it was about.  So certainly I think the 

proponents -- and I don't know how many -- that's 

all.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  But we have -- if I may 

bring up a point.  We have on a number of occasions 

disallowed petitions because they were not filled 

out in the entirety or incorrectly.  We have 

invalidated petitions.  And we have seen that, at 

least in the one instance and from the testimony of 

the witnesses we were told that the information at 

the top of the page was filled out afterwards.  

MR. FANSLER:  Let me tell you a really weird 

thing that doesn't happen in most of the things we 

do.  Almost everything is turned in to us, okay?  
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What was turned in to us has no apparent flaws.  

What we received from the auditor on the face of 

things is perfectly fine.  The question is, do we 

look behind what was presented to the auditor.  The 

first step of this is for them to present something 

to the auditor, and we have an auditor's 

certification, here it is, it's within the realm of 

what statutorily may be decided by an initiative 

petition and everything is done okay.  So we have 

the auditor saying that the stuff going to him is 

done okay, here you go.  

What came to us is facially valid, and we're 

being asked do we want to second guess the 

auditor's process.  We're clearly allowed to do 

that because at least one of the cases says we 

don't have to but we're allowed to.  So for all 

those reasons, what was presented to us has no 

flaws.  The flaws happened in whether the 

presentation to Fred had an error. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Okay.  So petitions in this 

instance to change city ordinances goes to the 

auditor.  

MR. FANSLER:  Yes.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  For a candidate who is 

running, they come here.  
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MS. LENZ:  Correct.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  That's what we look at.  

MR. FANSLER:  Correct.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Is our process only to 

approve what the auditor has already approved, or 

do we not also have the responsibility to look at 

whether what the petitioners signed on a change to 

the city ordinance is also correct?  Is that the 

auditor's responsibility?  

MR. LENTZ:  We have not done that before.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  I wish to goodness we had 

the auditor here. 

MR. FANSLER:  It's my opinion the Supreme 

Court has spoken that we have the right to do that; 

not the obligation to do that. 

MS. CLARK:  Should we before we make any 

decision confer with Fred Brentlinger?  

MR. FANSLER:  I think he -- well, I don't 

care, but we're going to hear from Fred I didn't 

get into that.  I don't know that.  I didn't get 

into that.  They presented this petition and the 

petition that's presented to him was okay too.  

It's -- 

MS. LENZ:  We have not ever examined -- I'm 

sorry.  We have not ever examined a petition that 
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is here before, like a local option.  We've never 

went back and said who -- who was signing this, who 

was watching this being signed, who -- we've never 

done that.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  We have had local option 

issues on things like alcohol and things like that.  

Is that not a change to the city code?  Is that 

different?  

MR. FANSLER:  We never got to this point.  We 

only said is the petition itself valid as presented 

to us.  

MR. LENTZ:  As presented to us.  

MS. CLARK:  I guess -- 

MS. PARCELS:  I did have a point.  

MR. LENTZ:  I'm sorry.  

MS. PARCELS:  The city auditor's 

obligation -- there's a body of case law that says 

it's ministerial in nature.  

MS. LENZ:  That's what I thought. 

MS. PARCELS:  That once he gets it he either 

has to transmit it and -- 

MR. LENTZ:  And clear it.  

MS. PARCELS:  As a clearing house.  The Board 

of Elections' responsibility is sufficiency and 

validity.  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

101

MS. CLARK:  So he doesn't have -- it's not 

his responsibility to say whether it's flawed or 

not.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Okay.  

MS. CLARK:  That's correct.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Let me be clear on this 

process.  What was originally sent to the auditor 

was Exhibit A, correct?  And that wasn't attached 

to any of the petitions that were signed.

MS. LENZ:  There was no petition signed at A, 

right?  

MR. BRANNON:  A is what is submitted to Fred. 

MS. PARCELS:  To be circulated.  

MS. LENZ:  To begin with.  

MR. FANSLER:  And that was what was 

circulated.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  A header page for the 

petitioners to sign.  

MS. LENZ:  Nothing had been done yet.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  All right.  So then when it 

is presented to the Board of Elections by the 

auditor's office, we get 1-C.  

MS. PARCELS:  And that's what was sent to him 

before it came here.  

MS. LENZ:  Right.  
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CHAIRMAN FULTON:  So is it our responsibility 

or is it the auditor's responsibility to say to 

petitioners, what you submitted to me in Exhibit A 

what you submitted to me in Exhibit C with all of 

your signatures is not the same?  

MR. FANSLER:  I don't think A has to match 

anything because it's not a petition.  I don't 

think A had to match anything.  

MS. LENZ:  That is correct.  

MS. CLARK:  It is not a final petition.  

MS. PARCELS:  Yes.  

MS. CLARK:  The problem is what was 

circulated, if people knew what they were signing 

when it was circulated.  

MR. LENTZ:  We never question that presented 

here.  

MS. CLARK:  We have to now because there has 

been a protest to it.  

MS. PARCELS:  But the Board of Elections is 

not responsible for pre-certifying anything.  

MS. LENZ:  Right.  

MS. CLARK:  But to me because there's been a 

protest, we have to look at that because that's -- 

that's the issue.  I don't know.  

MR. BRANNON:  The State Constitutional stuff 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

103

is if what's circulated in a petition does not 

match when it is filed at the State AG's office, 

that's not -- they can't count those, it's my 

understanding.  What is circulated as petition has 

to match what's on file with the AG's office.  

MS. CLARK:  So is that the same for the city 

auditor's office?  That's the question.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Does that not apply to laws 

throughout the sate?  

MS. PARCELS:  There's a principle called in 

pari materia, which means when you've got all these 

statutes, some affect cities, some affect townships 

some affect villages, some affect the statewide 

Constitutional amendments that when you're looking 

at election law, you read that body of election law 

together and try to harmonize it.  

MS. LENZ:  Uh-huh.  

MS. CLARK:  So in your opinion what's the 

harmony in it?  

MS. PARCELS:  I cannot give you an opinion on 

the record because I need to keep attorney/client 

privilege.  

MS. CLARK:  I'm just -- 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Are you ready to vote?  

MS. PARCELS:  I can say, I can help in your 
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voting but I can't tell you how to vote.  

MR. FANSLER:  The motion is to sustain the 

objection.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  The motion is to sustain 

the objection, and the word sustain, clearly 

identify what the word -- 

MS. HORTON:  The protest.  Sustain the 

protest.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  To sustain means to approve 

the protest.  I just want to clarify what that word 

sustain means.  That was my understanding.  

MS. PARCELS:  That's what you're in the 

business of with trying to clarify things for 

voters.  

MR. FANSLER:  And the requirement -- I'm not 

saying this as any suggestion, is it possible for 

the body of the group to vote without the chair 

voting, which would break the tie?  But, of course, 

you don't lose your voting rights just because 

you're chair.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  What do you mean by that?  

How do you vote?  

MR. FANSLER:  Typically a chair doesn't vote 

but they're certainly allowed to and they're always 

allowed to break a tie.  But my point is, I would 
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say in the ten years I've been on the board, most 

votes have been three to nothing or two to one 

without the chair voting at all.  But I'm only 

saying -- 

MS. CLARK:  Do we have -- do we have a motion 

to sustain?  

MR. FANSLER:  Rob seconded it.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Perhaps the chair is not 

supposed to.  

MS. PARCELS:  In terms of Robert's rule -- 

you're a member.  You're allowed to participate.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Yeah, I understand about 

breaking a tie.  But I also think in a matter 

of such importance the chair certainly has the 

right to vote.  

MR. FANSLER:  I do too. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Are we ready to proceed?  

MR. FANSLER:  I think we're ready.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  The motion is on the floor 

to sustain the protest.  All in favor, say aye.  

MS. CLARK:  Aye.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Aye.  Those's opposed, say 

no.  

MR. FANSLER:  No.  

MS. LENZ:  No.  
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CHAIRMAN FULTON:  The motion is not passed.  

We have a tie vote.  So where do we go from here?  

MR. FANSLER:  Just for the record, I'll make 

a motion to overrule the protest.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  I'm sorry.  Is there a 

second to that motion?  

MS. LENZ:  I'll second.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Move is seconded to 

overrule the protest.  Discussion?  What would that 

mean, Steve?  Tell me what you mean?  I presume 

that is a legal term, so I need the definition.  

MS. CLARK:  That means no, we would not -- we 

would not. 

MR. FANSLER:  I can't imagine the vote's 

going to change in the last two minutes.  

MS. CLARK:  Sustain means yes, overrule means 

no.  

MR. FANSLER:  The first one failed so I'm 

presenting the alternative.  

MS. LENZ:  That's all.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  A further discussion?  

Motion on the floor to overrule the protest.  Those 

in favor, say aye.  

MR. FANSLER:  Aye.

MS. LENZ:  Aye.  
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CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Those opposed, say no.  

MS. CLARK:  No.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  No.  

MS. LENZ:  Now, do you as the prosecutor and 

our legal advisor proceed to the Secretary of State 

or is that our obligation to write that letter and 

ask for the Secretary of State to break the tie?  

MS. PARCELS:  You had two tie votes, one to 

sustain; the other to overrule.  It would be the 

Board of Elections' obligation to contact the 

Secretary of State to break the tie in either of 

those votes, which would have the same practical 

effect because one is to sustain; one is to 

overrule.  

MR. BRANNON:  Okay.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  How does that happen?  By 

the -- our director?  

MS. HORTON:  We will make a call up to the 

litigation office of the Secretary of State.  

MR. FANSLER:  You've got to put it in 

writing.

MS. LENZ:  Put it in writing.  

MS. HORTON:  I know.  But we will submit 

that -- 

MS. CLARK:  Do we need to have a meeting to 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

108

see what was submitted to the Secretary of State?  

MS. HORTON:  We will write up a letter 

because we will not sign that letter.  It probably 

will be the four of you that will need to sign that 

letter.  We will draw up -- we'll draw up a letter 

today.  Do you guys want to come in first thing 

tomorrow morning to review the letter?  What 

would you like to do?  

MS. LENZ:  I can't come tomorrow.  

MS. HORTON:  Because we'll need to get.

MR. FANSLER:  The director or chairperson can 

submit the matter.  

MS. HORTON:  So that's up to you guys.  If 

you want us to draft the letter, we'll draft it.  

If you want Rob to draft the letter since you said 

chairman there.  

MS. LENZ:  Chairman can sign for the -- 

MS. HORTON:  If he wants to sign it, Adam and 

I will do up a letter.  

MR. FANSLER:  We are looking at 3501.11.  

It's very short.  This is exactly what it says so 

you all have it your mind as to signature here.  In 

all cases of a tie vote or a disagreement in the 

board, if no decision can be arrived at, the 

director or chairperson shall submit the matter in 
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controversy no later that 14 days after the tie 

vote or disagreement to the Secretary of State who 

shall summarily decide the question and the 

Secretary of State's decision shall be final.  

MR. LENTZ:  When do we send in?  

MR. BRANNON:  The 22nd.  

MS. HORTON:  We've got to hop.  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  They need to know that?  

MS. HORTON:  The Secretary of State?  

MS. LENZ:  They know that.  

MS. HORTON:  I hope they know what they have 

to do.  

MR. FANSLER:  If you don't count today, the 

14 days -- 

THE COURT REPORTER:  I'm sorry, is this off?  

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  So the hearing is done.  

MR. LENTZ:  Are you here?  

THE COURT REPORTER:  I think so. 

MR. LENTZ:  Hearing is over with.  

MR. BRANNON:  And they did not -- or, you 

know, they voted a tie to sustain and/or overrule 

it.  It came to a tie.  That would be included in 

that transcript, but now that that would finalize 

that. 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  So ready for a motion to 
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adjourn the meeting?  

MR. FANSLER:  I motion to adjourn the 

meeting.  

MS. CLARK:  I second.

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Move and second to adjourn 

the meeting.  All in favor, say aye.  

(All members say aye.) 

CHAIRMAN FULTON:  Opposed?  So ordered. 

-----

(Meeting adjourned at 11:55 a.m.)
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C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E

-  -  -  -  -

I, Belinda M. Wolford, do hereby certify 

that the foregoing transcript is a true and correct 

transcript of the September 7, 2023 proceedings in this 

matter, taken by me and transcribed from my stenographic 

notes to the best of my ability.

                        
Belinda M. Wolford
Registered Professional Reporter
Notary Public, State of Ohio
My commission expires:  4/12/26
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Tie Vote Letter 
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Via Electronic Mail 
 
September 19, 2023 
 
Kandie Horton, Director 
Adam Brannon, Deputy Director 
Logan County Board of Elections 
225 S Main St. 
Bellefontaine, OH 43311 
 

Re: Tie Votes Regarding a Protest on an Initiative Petition 
 
Dear Director Horton and Deputy Director Brannon, 
 

I have been asked to resolve two tie votes taken by the Logan County Board of 
Elections (the “Board”) on September 7, 2023. At an official meeting of the Board on that 
date, members considered a protest filed against the certification of an initiative petition 
to the November 7, 2023 ballot. The Board voted first to sustain the protest and remove 
the petition from the November ballot and tied 2-2. The Board then voted to overrule 
the protest and allow the petition to remain on the November ballot and again tied 2-2. 
These tie votes were submitted to the Secretary of State on September 12, 2023. 

 
I. BACKGROUND 

 

On April 14, 2023, petitioners seeking a change to the Codified Ordinances of the 
City of Bellefontaine (the “Ordinances”) filed proposed language for a municipal petition 
with the City Auditor of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio (the “City Auditor”). The petition 
proposed a change to the Ordinances that would classify drag shows as “Adult Cabaret 
Performances” and prohibit all Adult Cabaret Performances from being performed on 
public property or in any location viewable by a minor. It would also prohibit the 
attendance of minors at all Adult Cabaret Performances. 
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On April 14, 2023, prior to circulation of the petition for signature, the petitioners filed 
Secretary of State Form 6-I with the City Auditor. That form reads as follows:  

 
To the City Auditor of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio: 
 
We, the undersigned, electors of the City of Bellefontaine, Ohio, 
respectfully propose to the electors of such city, village or township for 
their approval or rejection at the general election to be held on the 7th day 
of November, 2023 the following Ordinance: 
 
The following is a full and correct copy of the title and text of the 
proposed Ordinance: 
 
The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows as Adult Cabaret 
Performance. Adult oriented exhibitions featuring male or female 
impersonators who provide displays and entertainment appealing to 
sexual interest, shall not permit the attendance of a minor.  
 
Adult Cabaret Performances shall not be held on public property, or any 
location viewable by a minor.  

 
The petitioners circulated the petition for signature between April 14 and July 24, 

2023. When the part-petitions were circulated, the petitioners also made available a 
copy of the chapter of the zoning ordinances that would be changed should the 
proposed ordinance pass. This allowed any voter considering whether to sign the 
petition to review the actual changes that the petition would make in the context of the 
city’s zoning ordinance scheme. 

 
The circulated part-petitions read as follows: 

 
The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows as Adult Cabaret 
Performance. Adult oriented exhibitions featuring male or female 
impersonators who provide displays and entertainment appealing to 
sexual interest, shall not permit the attendance of a minor.  
 
Adult Cabaret Performances shall not be held on public property, or any 
location viewable by a minor.  
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As shown above, the initiative petition that was circulated for signature is 

identical to the one that was submitted to the City Auditor prior to circulation on April 
14, 2023. However, on July 24, 2023, the final petition was submitted to the City Auditor 
for certification. The submission contained 27 part-petitions with 796 signatures. Along 
with the final part-petitions, petitioners also included a cover sheet on Secretary of State 
Form 6-I. Form 6-I is only required to be filed with the City Auditor prior to circulation of 
the petition and is not required to be filed with the final part-petitions,1 but the 
petitioners included it with their final submission anyway. The copy of the petition that 
was submitted to the City Auditor on Form 6-I on July 24, 2023, reads as follows:  
 

Proposal to amend City of Bellefontaine Codified Ordinance Chapter 
1177 Adult Entertainment – 1177.02 Definition 

 
by adding the following text: 

 
The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows as Adult Cabaret 
Performance. Adult oriented exhibitions featuring male or female 
impersonators who provide displays and entertainment appealing to 
sexual interest, shall not permit the attendance of a minor. Adult 
Cabaret Performances shall not be held on public property, or any 
location viewable by a minor. 

 
As is evident above, the final version of the petition that was submitted to the 

City Auditor on July 24, 2023 is not the exact same as the version of the petition that 
was submitted on April 14, 2023, nor is it the same as the version of the petition that 
was circulated to the voters of Bellefontaine for signature. Namely, the final version 
contained the following headers, which did not appear on either the April 14 submission 
or the circulated part-petitions: 
 

Proposal to amend City of Bellefontaine Codified Ordinance Chapter 
1177 Adult Entertainment – 1177.02 Definition 

 
by adding the following text: 

 
However, it is undisputed that the text of the proposed ordinance remained the 

same between the April 14 submission, the circulated part-petitions, and the final 
version submitted on July 24, 2023. It was never amended or changed.  

 
1 R.C. 731.32 - 33. 
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On August 4, 2023, the City Auditor certified the petition with 799 signatures to 

the Board. Board staff then verified that 500 of the 799 submitted signatures were valid. 
As only 357 signatures are needed for an initiative petition to qualify for the ballot in 
Bellefontaine, on August 21, 2023, the Board voted 2-1 to certify the petition to the 
November 7, 2023 ballot. On August 25, 2023, a protest against the certification of the 
initiative petition was submitted to the Board. The protesters alleged that the petition 
did not include a full and correct copy of the title and text of the proposed ordinance. 
The protesters further alleged that the petition forms submitted to the City Auditor on 
July 24, 2023 were not identical to the forms filed on April 14, 2023.  
 

The Board held a protest hearing on September 7, 2023. After submission of 
evidence and testimony, Board Member Kathryn Clark moved to sustain the protest and 
remove the initiative petition from the November 7, 2023 ballot. Chairman Robert Fulton 
seconded the motion. The resulting vote on the motion ended in a 2-2 tie, with Member 
Clark and Chairman Fulton voting for the motion and Members Steven Fansler and 
Ranae Lentz voting against the motion. Subsequently, Board Member Fansler made a 
motion to overrule the protest and keep the initiative petition on the November 7, 2023 
ballot. The resulting vote on this motion also ended in a 2-2 tie, with Board Members 
Fansler and Lentz voting for the motion and Board Member Clark and Chairman Robert 
Fulton voting against the motion. 

 
 In accordance with Ohio Revised Code 3501.11(X) and Chapter 2 of the Ohio 
Election Official Manual, the Board certified both tie votes to my Office on September 
12, 2023. Along with this certification, the Board also provided a copy of the protest, the 
petitioners’ response to the protest, a copy of the transcript from the September 7 
protest heading, and the Board members’ position statements and the accompanying 
supporting evidence to my Office.   
 

II. Analysis of the Issue 
 

In examining this matter, I have reviewed the protest filed against the initiative 
petition, the petitioners’ response to the protest, the position statements both for and 
against the protest, the transcript of the protest hearing, and a letter from the Board 
summarizing the protest hearing and the resulting tie votes. The protestors and 
petitioners raised several arguments for and against certification of the petition; 
however, the only relevant issue is whether the circulated part-petitions contained the 
full and complete title of the proposed ordinance.  
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The law requires all part-petitions circulated for signature to contain a full and 
correct copy of the title and text of the proposed ordinance.2 In this case, neither side 
disputes that the circulated part-petitions contained a full and correct copy of the text 
of the proposed ordinance. The only question is whether the circulated part-petitions 
contained a full and correct copy of the title of the proposed ordinance.  

 
A full and correct title is required because the title gives voters notice of the 

proposed change in the ordinances so they know what they are signing.3 Titles also help 
prevent signers from being misled about what they are signing.4 Therefore, to qualify for 
the ballot, part-petitions circulated for signature must contain a title for the proposed 
ordinance.5 

 
Upon review of the submitted materials, I find that the part-petitions that were 

circulated for signature in this matter did contain the full and correct copy of the title of 
the proposed ordinance, specifically: “The classification of drag artist(s) and drag shows 
as Adult Cabaret Performance.” The headers added to Form 6-I, filed on July 24, 2023, 
are not the title of the proposed ordinance; rather, they are headings that explain what 
the proposed ordinance would do should it pass.6  
 

III. Conclusion and Vote Cast on the Tie Votes 
 

Accordingly, based upon the evidence provided to my Office, it is my view that 
the initiative petition and the part-petitions presented to voters were compliant with the 
law. As such, I am breaking the tie votes by voting “nay” on Member Clark’s 
motion to sustain the protest and by voting “yea” on Member Fansler’s motion to 
overrule the protest. The proposed ordinance will therefore be placed on the 
November 7, 2023 ballot.  

 

 
2 R.C. 731.31. 
33 State ex rel. Esch v. Lake County Bd. of Elections, 61 Ohio St. 3d 595, 597, citing Chevalier v. Brown, 17 Ohio St.3d 
61, 63, 17 OBR 64, 66, 477 N.E.2d 623, 625 (1985); State, ex rel. Evergreen, Co., v. Bd. of Elections, 48 Ohio St.2d 29, 
31, 2 O.O.3d 126, 127, 356 N.E.2d 716, 717 (1976); State, ex rel. Janasik, v. Sarosy, 12 Ohio St.2d 5, 41 O.O.2d 3, 230 
N.E.2d  346  (1967)  (“More  so  than  the  text,  the  title  immediately  alerts  signers  to  the  nature  of  proposed 
legislation.”). 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
6 See State ex rel. Hazel v. Cuyahoga County Bd. of Elections, 80 Ohio St. 3d 165, 167 (1997) (“Contrary to the board's 
argument,  the  proposed  ordinance  contains  a  title  which  is  designated  as  "Penal  Facilities 
Acquisition/Construction/Regulation."). 
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If you have any questions regarding this decision, please contact Paul Disantis, Chief 
Legal Counsel at the Secretary of State’s Office, at pdisantis@ohiosos.gov, or Shanda 
Behrens, Chief Elections Counsel at the Secretary of State’s Office, at sbehrens@ohiosos.gov.   

 
Yours in service, 
 
 
Frank LaRose                           
Ohio Secretary of State  
 
cc:  Rob Fulton, Chairman of the Union County Board of Elections 
 Ranae Lentz, Board Member 
 Steve Fansler, Board Member 

Kathryn Clark, Board Member 
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